
Meeting papers

Gloucestershire Joint Waste Committee

Tuesday 6 December 2016 at 10.00 am

Cabinet Suite - Shire Hall, Gloucester





Date Published:25 November 2016     

Gloucestershire Joint Waste Committee

Tuesday 6 December 2016 at 10.00 am

Cabinet Suite - Shire Hall, Gloucester

AGENDA

1  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE Andrea Clarke

2  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

Please see note (a) at the end of the agenda.

Andrea Clarke

3  PUBLIC QUESTIONS 

To answer any written or oral questions about matters which are within the 
powers and duties of the committee.

The closing date/time for receipt of written questions is 6.00pm on 30 
November 2016. Please send questions to the Democratic Services Unit, 
marked for the attention of Andrea Clarke (email: 
andrea.clarke@gloucestershire.gov.uk).  

An oral question may be asked by a member of the public if notice of the 
question is given by the questioner to Democratic Services at least 30 
minutes prior to the start of the meeting.

Depending on the nature of the questions asked it may not be possible to 
provide a comprehensive answer at the meeting, in which case a written 
answer will be supplied as soon as reasonably possible after the meeting.

Chair

4  MEMBER QUESTIONS 

To answer any written members’ questions about matters which are within 
the powers and duties of the committee. The closing date/time for the 
receipt of questions is 6.00pm on 30 November 2016. Please send 
questions to the Democratic Services Unit marked for the attention of 
Andrea Clarke (email: andrea.clarke@gloucestershire.gov.uk). 

Chair

mailto:andrea.clarke@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:andrea.clarke@gloucestershire.gov.uk


    

5  MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING - 4 OCTOBER 2016 (Pages 1 - 
6)

Andrea Clarke

6  CHELTENHAM BOROUGH COUNCIL SERVICE REVIEW - 
PREFERRED OPTION (Pages 7 - 58)

Steve Read

7  FLY TIPPING - OVERVIEW OF ISSUES AND ENFORCEMENT 

The committee to consider and debate the main issues and what action 
can be taken to address this matter.

Steve Read

8  DRAFT BUSINESS PLAN 2017-2020 AND DRAFT REVENUE BUDGET 
2017-2018 SUMMARY (Pages 59 - 82)

Steve Read

9  PERFORMANCE MONITORING (Pages 83 - 86) Steve Read

10  MANAGEMENT ACCOUNTS MONITORING REPORT (Pages 87 - 96) Rachel Capon

11  SERVICE/ACTION PLAN UPDATE (Pages 97 - 100) Steve Read

FOR INFORMATION

Committee meetings in 2017: -

21 February 2017 
20 June 2017
3 October 2017
5 December 2017

All meetings start at 10am, and are held in the Cabinet Suite, Shire Hall, Gloucester, GL1 2TG.

Membership –  Cllr Ray Theodoulou (Gloucestershire County Council) and Cllr Stan Waddington 
(Gloucestershire County Council) Cllr Sue Coakley (Cotswold District Council), Cllr Chris Coleman 
(Cheltenham Borough Council), Cllr Jim Mason (Tewkesbury Borough Council), 
Cllr Helena McCloskey (Cheltenham Borough Council), Cllr Brian Robinson (Forest of Dean District 
Council), Cllr Marrilyn Smart OBE (Forest of Dean District Council), Cllr Tina Stevenson (Cotswold 
District Council) and Cllr Mark WIlliams (Tewkesbury Borough Council)

Co-Opted Members - Cllr Richard Cook (Gloucester City Council), Cllr Paul Denney (Stroud 
District Council), Cllr Kate Haigh (Gloucester City Council) and Cllr Simon Pickering (Stroud District 
Council)

(a) DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST – Please declare any disclosable pecuniary interests or 
personal interests that you may have relating to specific matters which may be discussed 
at this meeting, by signing the form that will be available in the Cabinet Suite.  Completing 
this list is acceptable as a declaration, but does not, of course, prevent members from 
declaring an interest orally in relation to individual agenda items.  The list will be available 
for public inspection.

Members requiring advice or clarification about whether to make a declaration of interest 
are invited to contact the Monitoring Officer (Jane Burns  01452 328472, email 
jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk) prior to the start of the meeting.

mailto:jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk


    

(b) INSPECTION OF PAPERS AND GENERAL QUERIES - If you wish to inspect minutes or 
reports relating to any item on this agenda or have any other general queries about the 
meeting, please contact: Andrea Clarke, Senior Democratic Services Adviser 
:01452 324203/fax: 425850/e-mail: andrea.clarke@gloucestershire.gov.uk 

(c) Co-opted Members
Gloucester City and Stroud District Councils may each nominate up to two Co-opted 
Members to attend and participate in the Committee’s meetings. Co-opted Members may 
take a full part in public debate where they are present, but may not vote.  In the event of 
the Committee discussing confidential “exempt” non–public items the general presumption 
is that co-opted members shall leave the meeting, although should a co-opted member 
make a case to stay, this may be waived at the Chairman’s discretion provided no voting 
member raises an objection. Co-opted Members may, in such circumstances, be asked to 
leave the meeting while the Chairman seeks views from Voting Members.

(d) GENERAL ARRANGEMENTS
1 Members are asked to sign the attendance list.
2. Substitution of members – Where a substitute member takes the place of a 

committee member who is an executive member of the appointing partner authority 
the substitute member must also be a member of the executive.

3. Quorum - The quorum for a meeting shall be five committee members, which shall 
include at least one member appointed by each of the five different partner 
authorities. No business shall be transacted unless quorum is reached. If quorum is 
not reached within 30 minutes of the start of the meeting, (or if quorum ceases to be 
present during a meeting), the meeting shall be adjourned to the same time and 
venue within five working days of the meeting or to a date determined by the 
Chairman.

EVACUATION PROCEDURE - in the event of the fire alarms sounding during the meeting please leave as 
directed in a calm and orderly manner and go to the assembly point which is outside the main entrance to 
Shire Hall in Westgate Street.  Please remain there and await further instructions.

mailto:andrea.clarke@gloucestershire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



- 1 -

GLOUCESTERSHIRE JOINT WASTE COMMITTEE
MINUTES of a meeting of the Gloucestershire Joint Waste Committee held on Tuesday 4 October 
2016 at the Cabinet Suite - Shire Hall, Gloucester.

PRESENT:
Cllr Sue Coakley (Chairman)
Cllr Chris Coleman
Cllr Richard Cook
Cllr Kate Haigh
Cllr Jim Mason
Cllr Helena McCloskey

Cllr Brian Robinson (Vice-Chairman)
Cllr Marrilyn Smart OBE
Cllr Tina Stevenson
Cllr Ray Theodoulou
Cllr Stan Waddington
Cllr Mark WIlliams

Apologies: Nigel Riglar

Officers in attendance:
Rachel Capon – Joint Waste Team
Tony Childs – Joint Waste Team
Andy Barge – Forest of Dean District Council
Clare Locke – Joint Waste Team
Martin Stacy - Cheltenham Borough Council
Andy Pritchard – Joint Waste Team
Steve Read – Joint Waste Team
Scott Williams – Joint Waste Team
Roger Smith – Joint Waste Team 
Jonathan Lund – Gloucester City Council 

21. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
No declarations of interest were received. 

22. TRIBUTE TO COUNCILLOR JIM PORTER 
22.1 Jonathan Lund, Corporate Director Gloucester City Council, spoke to the committee about 

Jim’s thorough understanding and passion for his portfolio which had not been dimmed by 
his illness, and that despite his diagnosis had continued his work for the people of 
Gloucester. As well as his work as a Councillor, Jim was also a Director at Gloucestershire 
Airport, and had been very active in the Rotary Club. He fought his illness with spirit and 
energy, and died peacefully at home. A service of remembrance had been held at 
Gloucester Cathedral and the large number of people in attendance was testament to the 
respect in which he had been held.

22.2 Committee members stood for a minute silence as a mark of respect.

23. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING - 21 JUNE 2016 
23.1 The minutes of the meeting on 21 June 2016 were agreed as a correct record and signed 

by the Chair.

23.2 The Chair informed the meeting that the actions from the last meeting were complete, other 
than the Routemap discussions between the Chair, the Vice Chair and Head of Waste and 
district partners. The meeting with Cheltenham Borough Council was due to take place 
later that day; and the meeting with Stroud District Council was still to be arranged.

Page 1

Agenda Item 5



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 2 -

24. PUBLIC QUESTIONS 
No public questions had been received.

25. MEMBER QUESTIONS 
No member questions had been received.

26. OUTLINE BUSINESS PLAN 2017-2020 
26.1 Steve Read, Head of Service for the Joint Waste Team, gave a detailed presentation of this 

report. He highlighted that there was a high degree of uncertainty particularly around the 
circular economy package following the referendum decision on 23 June 2016 to leave the 
EU. However the industry would need to continue to abide by EU rules until the impact of 
this decision was clearer. 

26.2 He explained that the main area of Defra policy development was around promoting 
consistency in recycling collections; this encouraged all collection authorities to collect a 
wide range of materials. Defra’s biggest area of interest was encouraging food waste 
collections, but Gloucestershire was already a leader on this. Guidance recently published 
by WRAP recognised that both kerbside sort and co-mingled collections systems existed 
but did not push for standardisation to one or the other. 

26.3 Members discussed whether there was any merit in the push to become more 
homogenous nationally with regard to bin colours. It was suggested that if no benefits in 
terms of improvements in the recycling rates could be identified that the committee should 
‘push back’ on this proposal which would be very expensive to implement retrospectively. It 
was agreed that this proposal was not a priority; and the committee was informed that at 
present there was no indication that any aspect of the push for consistency would be 
compulsory.

26.4 Concern was expressed at the recent announcement that nationally the amount of rejected 
recyclates had increased, and it was questioned whether this was happening in 
Gloucestershire. Mr Read’s own view was that the statistics reflected that there had been a 
lot of underreporting for some time but there was certainly a problem with quality of 
recyclate from some local authority areas using a co-mingled system. A new voluntary 
code of practice meant that Material Recovery Facilities (MRFs) were having to look more 
closely at the rejected items; in effect they have started to properly report on this matter. In 
Gloucestershire materials were collected separately (except by Tewkesbury Borough and 
Stroud District Councils) so the rejection rate has always been minimal. The two districts 
where recycling materials were co-mingled did report rejection rates, and it was known that 
the rejection rates from the Tewkesbury Borough Council area were low.

26.5 Committee members discussed the challenges of responding to public demand around 
recycling. It was known that the public wanted to be able to recycle food and drink cartons 
but due to the material content of these cartons this was not straightforward and would be 
at a significant cost to partners . The economics of the present structure meant that the 
majority of costs of collecting products for recycling  fell to  local authorities not the 
producers or suppliers; it was agreed that this should be the other way round.

26.6 It was agreed that more needed to be done to encourage members of the public to recycle 
more materials. It was noted that previous exercises involving opening black bags taken to 
household recycling centres (HRCs) had proved successful in demonstrating to the 
householder the range of products that could be recycled. However this was resource 
intensive and could not be sustained at the larger HRCs in the longer term. Members 

Page 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 3 -

debated the merits of different approaches, and it was agreed that this issue would benefit 
from a wider discussion and should be added to the committee’s work plan going forward.  

26.7 The committee agreed: -
 to approve the broad approach and proposed priority areas for inclusion in the 

Business Plan 2017-20 as set out in the report, 
 to convene an informal non-decision workshop in November to consider feedback on 

the “Routemap” document and progress on key action areas, along with the 
formulation of the plan and associated resource implications. 

27. FEEDBACK FROM ROUTEMAP CONSULTATIONS 
27.1 The Head of Service for the Joint Waste Team informed the committee that this process 

was almost complete. Following the meeting with Cheltenham Borough Council today, it 
only remained to arrange a meeting with Stroud District Council. 

27.2 The committee was further informed that feedback had been a generally positive view of 
the GJWC and it’s work; and that there was a strong view that the co opted districts should 
formally join the committee.

27.3 Further feedback would be shared with members after the process was complete.

28. OVERVIEW OF MARKET CONDITIONS FOR RECYCLABLE MATERIALS 
28.1 Scott Williams, Joint Waste Team, presented this report. He explained that the weakened 

pound had had a positive impact on commodity prices in the short term but it was not 
possible to predict this position in the longer term. It was also important to be aware that 
clean material attracted better prices.

28.2 Some committee members found the data relating to costs of recycling to be of concern. It 
was explained that the data referred to average costs, and that each of the waste collection 
authorities in the county had separate agreements. Members felt that it should be the 
supplier picking up the costs of recycling not local authorities. It was also noted that the 
implementation of a charge of 5p for plastic bags had shown that the general public would 
adapt their behaviour. It was felt that this approach could be used in relation to other 
recycling materials. 

28.3 The Head of Service for the Joint Waste Team reminded the committee as to the role of 
recycling credits in this process. The committee was informed that there was currently no 
expectation that these would be withdrawn. It was agreed that that it was important to 
maintain a focus on diverting waste from landfill as this was a win-win for all partners.

28.4 The committee noted the report.

29. HEALTH AND SAFETY UPDATE 
29.1 Roger Smith, Joint Waste Team, gave a full presentation of this report. Members were 

concerned to note  the incidences of  impatient car and van drivers driving on pavements 
and verges to pass collection vehicles without regard to safety of pedestrians and crews. It 
was explained that Ubico were trialling 360° cameras on their vehicles, and that the Forest 
of Dean team have a good relationship with the Police. It was also explained that the Joint 
Waste Team were hoping to share examples of dangerous driving on social media. 

29.2 In response to concerns Rob Bell, Chief Executive Ubico, assured the committee that 
Ubico take health and safety maters seriously and were working to achieve ISOH 
accreditation; and were constantly reviewing to see how the service could improve.  There 

Page 3



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 4 -

have been no high level issues. It was noted that Ubico had taken over the Household 
Recycling Centre contract for the county council from Kier Environmental Services with 
effect from 7 August 2016.

 
29.3 It was, however, agreed that low level incidents also  required attention and it was felt that 

this was a culture issue in the workforce. Mr Bell assured the committee that culture 
change was a priority and that Ubico has recently appointed a compliance officer to focus 
on health and safety issues.

29.4 Cllr Coleman, Cabinet Member Clean and Green Environment Cheltenham Borough 
Council, informed the committee that he felt a lot more satisfied with the resilience of the 
figures since Ubico had taken on this work and they were to be applauded for their 
approach. 

29.5 Members asked for data on how Gloucestershire compared to other areas of the country. It 
was noted that officers would be able to access comparable data from Somerset councils 
but that it was not known whether other local authorities published this data in the public 
domain. 

29.6 It was noted that toward the end of the Kier contract the number of incidents had 
apparently reduced. The committee was assured that these were the reported numbers. In 
response to a question Ubico representatives informed the committee that they had not 
identified any issues with the HRC sites since taking over the contract and that the 
workforce had responded positively to the change of employer. Ubico would be working 
closely with the workforce to deliver local solutions to any health and safety related matters.

29.7 The committee noted the report.

30. MANAGEMENT ACCOUNT FINAL OUTTURN 
30.1 Rachel Capon, Waste Management Team, presented this report highlighting the financial 

position across all seven councils.

30.2 The committee agreed to note the summary financial performance as contained within the 
report.

31. MANAGEMENT ACCOUNTS MONITORING REPORT 
The committee agreed to note the summary financial performance as contained within the 
report.

32. SERVICE/ACTION PLAN UPDATE 
32.1 As well as the reports the committee received a presentation to update members on activity 

against the action plan. (For information the presentation slides were uploaded to the 
council website and included in the minute book.) It was recognised that a large amount of 
work had been undertaken by the Joint Waste Team, and the committee thanked officers 
and partners for their hard work to achieve these outcomes.

32.2 In response to an invitation from the Chair the representatives from Ubico took the 
opportunity to inform the committee on their business plan (which had been drawn up with 
reference to the Joint Waste Committee’s own Business Plan) and how this was being 
taken forward; how the waste collection routes were designed and mapped out; and how 
the business had responded to capacity issues. 

Page 4



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 5 -

32.3 Ubico were in the process of reviewing pay and conditions across the company. The 
committee was informed that as the company had grown so quickly staff at similar levels of 
expertise were in place at different rates of pay and conditions and that this needed to be 
standardised. Ubico was also looking to review its management and administrative 
structure, and that there would also be a specific focus on the wider governance and 
organisation structure. 

32.4 Committee members were aware that Rob Bell was stepping down as Managing Director of 
Ubico and members thanked him and wished him well for the future. Cllr Coleman thanked 
Mr Bell on behalf of Cheltenham Borough Council, and stated that Mr Bell would be 
missed.

32.5 In response to a question relating to the recruitment process the committee was informed 
that the process was still being discussed, but would involve stakeholders.

33. COMMUNICATIONS PLAN UPDATE 
33.1 Andy Pritchard, Joint Waste Team, gave a detailed presentation of this report. 

33.2 Cllr Marrilyn Smart commented that the Forest of Dean District Council now collected 
textiles and had received criticism from local charity shops. She asked that in all publicity it 
was made clear that good quality clothes and other textiles could still be donated to charity 
shops for reuse. Cllr Smart was assured that this was and would continue to be the case.

33.3 Cllr Smart informed the committee that the Forest of Dean Council was very proud of the 
new waste collection service, and wanted to place on record her thanks to Rachel Capon 
and the Waste Team for a brilliant job.

33.4 It was agreed that attention should be given to communicating positive messages to the 
public about what happens to materials recycled at the kerbside to encourage people to 
recycle more. In response it was explained that discussions were already happening and 
officers had started to draw together a story board for this message. 

CHAIRMAN

Meeting concluded at 12.35 pm

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Cheltenham Borough Council – Waste & Recycling Service 
Redesign and Routes Optimisation
 

Committee Gloucestershire Joint Waste Committee 

Committee 
Date 6 December 2016

Decision? No

Responsible 
Officers

Steve Read, Head of Service, Gloucestershire Joint Waste Team 
(01823 625707; steve.read@gloucestershire.gov.uk); 

Main 
Consultees None

Purpose of 
Report

To present the work undertaken to review the waste and recycling 
services in Cheltenham, outline the details of consultations with 
residents and present the preferred option as proposed to 
Cheltenham Borough Council for any comment. The short time 
frame is due to CBC awaiting very recent consultation responses 
before settling on the preferred option.

JWT officers have been part of the Project Board and helped to 
identify, evaluate and present the options. JWT officers support the 
proposed option.  

This report is being presented to CBC Cabinet later on 6th 
December with the recommendation to continue with the current 
kerbside sort recycling collection method, with the addition of 
brown cardboard, plastic pots, tubs and trays. Subject to more 
work on affordability, there is also an option to collect textiles, 
cartons, batteries or small waste electrical equipment.

Under the proposal collection frequencies remain unchanged.

Recommend-
ations

It is recommended that the Committee:
Consider the contents of the report and provide any comments to 
CBC ahead of their cabinet meeting later in the day. 

Resource 
Implications

The report sets out the resource implications for CBC 
Joint Waste Team resource will be required to support the 
introduction of the new service within Cheltenham. 
This project forms part of the Action Plan within the Draft Business 
Plan 2017-20.

Page 7

Agenda Item 6

mailto:01823
mailto:steve.read@gloucestershire.gov.uk


2

Cheltenham Borough Council
[Cabinet] – [6th December 2016]

[Waste & Recycling Service Redesign and Routes Optimisation]

Accountable member Cllr Chris Coleman, Cabinet Member - Clean & Green Environment

Accountable officer Martin Stacy

Ward(s) affected All

Key/Significant 
Decision

Yes 

Executive summary In 2011 the Council introduced new refuse and recycling collection services 
in Cheltenham which resulted in recycling performance increasing and 
waste to landfill decreasing. The vehicles which were purchased to support 
that change are now approaching the end of their usable life and so there is 
another opportunity to improve the services as part of the new vehicle 
purchase. This report sets out the work which has been completed to 
assess and shortlist the service options available and the consultation work 
completed to gauge residents support. The report recommends Option 2a 
be approved by Cabinet for implementation in 2017. 

Recommendations That Cabinet approves;

a) Option 2a (Option A as shown in 2nd consultation) with routes 
optimisation be approved and a recommendation be given to 
Full Council for formal approval of the associated budget 
required for implementation

b) Subject to Full Council approval of the finances to support 
option 2a, an order be placed for new recycling collection 
vehicles 

c) A Cabinet Member Working Group be set-up to oversee Phase II 
(implementation) of the project

d) That the Cabinet Member in consultation with the Cabinet 
Member Working Group be given delegated authority to 
approve the additional recyclables to be collected i.e. cartons, 
textiles, batteries or small waste electricals (WEEE) subject to 
being within the new service budget

Page 8



3

Financial implications The Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS), approved by Cabinet in 
October 2016, estimated additional costs associated with implementing a 
new waste and recycling service for the Borough (see paragraphs 4.16 
and 4.17 of the MTFS). Due to the necessity to replace the recycling 
vehicles there is an additional structural cost arising of £146,500 which has 
been built into the provisional base budget in 2017/18.

Consideration of how to offset these additional costs over the course of the 
MTFS will be considered by the Cabinet and may include increasing green 
waste charges and reviewing the effectiveness of the bring sites and 
household recycling centre.

Contact officer: Paul Jones                        
paul.jones@cheltenham.gov.uk, 01242 775154

Page 9



4

Legal implications Section 13 of The Waste (England and Wales) Regulations 2011 
(amended 2012) require the Council to collect waste paper, metal, plastic 
or glass by way of separate collection where

“13(4)(a) it is necessary to ensure that waste undergoes recovery 
operations…and to  facilitate or improve recovery;

and

(b) is  technically, environmentally and economically practicable.”

Option 2(a) fulfils the requirements of paragraph 13(4)(a) of the 
Regulations as it will lead to an increase of nearly 2% of recycling 
performance and will also lead to an increase in the type of recyclables 
collected (as detailed in para 5.1 of this report).  

The modelling and analysis described in paragraphs 2 -5 of the report 
establish that option 2a is technically, environmentally and economically 
practicable.  With regard to the latter criteria the Council should be 
confident that it can fund the selected option up to the level of the worst 
case cost (£305,426)

The Council has duties to consult under both section 3(2) of the Local 
Government Act 1999 (as updated by revised Best Value Guidance 
Statutory Guidance of March 2015) and the Equality Act 2010 (as 
subsequently interpreted by case law and guidance).  There is no need to 
undertake separate consultations in respect of both duties but any 
consultation exercise must fulfil the following requirements for the 
respective duties:

Best Value guidance states that consultation should take place “at all 
stages of the commissioning cycle.”  Thus it is entirely correct for the 
Council to consult in the manner described in paragraph 8 of this report, in 
both seeking views on the waste and recycling service and then the 
modelled options.  In practical terms the consultation should be sufficient 
to reach the consultees specified in the guidance i.e. “representatives of 
council tax payers, those who use or are likely to use services provided by 
the authority, and those appearing to the authority to have an interest in 
any area within which the authority carries out functions. Authorities should 
include local voluntary and community organisations and small businesses 
in such consultation.”

In terms of the Equality Act 2010 the Council has to bear in mind its wider 
Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED) when proposing service changes i.e. 
the duty to 

“(a) eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other 
conduct that is prohibited by or under this (Equality) Act;

(b)advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant 
protected characteristic and persons who do not share it;

(c)foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it.”

“protected characteristics” are:

 age;

Page 10



5

disability;

gender reassignment;

marriage and civil partnership;

pregnancy and maternity;

race;

religion or belief;

sex;

sexual orientation.   

Again, in practical terms, the PSED requires any consultation regarding 
service change to be at the earliest opportunity, with persons possessing a 
protected characteristic who may be affected, be clear who it may affect 
and how, and give them the opportunity to express their views. 

The Council should be satisfied that the consultation exercises meet the 
requirements discussed in sub-paragraphs above.  

The procurement of the new vehicles will be carried out in accordance with 
the Council’s own Contract Procedure rules, and, given the likely value of 
the fleet, the Public Contracts Regulations 2015.  

Contact officer: Linden Dunham

Linden.dunham@tewkesbury.gov.uk, 01684 272065

HR implications 
(including learning and 
organisational 
development) 

Having reviewed the recommendations within this report, as the service, 
and way in which waste and recyclables are collected are not changing 
significantly under Option 2a, there are no HR implications which need to 
be highlighted

Contact officer: Deborah Bainbridge 
Deborah.Bainbridge@cotswold.gov.uk,  01285 623148

Key risks The current risks are shown at Appendix 1 of this report.

Corporate and 
community plan 
Implications

The new waste and recycling service would contribute to the Councils 
‘Cheltenham’s environmental quality and heritage is protected, maintained 
and enhanced’ outcome.

Page 11



6

Environmental and 
climate change 
implications

Each of the 3 shortlisted service options (2a, 5b & 8a) shows an 
anticipated increase in recycling performance and waste diversion from 
landfill. 

In order to manage the large current and planned increases in housing 
developments across Cheltenham, the authority intends to undertake a 
collection rounds route optimisation no-matter which option is selected 
which will involve collection day changes for a proportion of households. 
This will have the benefit of not only managing the collections from the 
increased numbers of properties to service in the short and medium term 
and the associated additional costs, but will also ensure that the waste and 
recycling rounds are operating efficiently therefore better managing the 
amount of fuel being used.   

Environmental performance will be an important consideration in the 
purchase of any new recycling collection vehicles.

Contact officer: Gill Morris 

Gill.morris@cheltenham.gov.uk 01242 264229

Property/Asset 
Implications

There are no property or asset implications associated with this report.

Contact officer: David Roberts 

David.roberts@cheltenham.gov.uk 01242 264151

1. Background

1.1 Cheltenham Borough Council (CBC) revised its waste and recycling collection service in 2011 
and this resulted in refuse collections moving to: a fortnightly frequency, food waste being 
collected separately on a weekly basis, a charge made to residents for the fortnightly collection of 
garden waste, and plastic bottles & kitchen card being added to the range of materials collected 
for recycling by way of a kerbside sort method on a fortnightly basis.

1.2 New recycling collection vehicles were purchased in 2010 to support this service change and 
these are now approaching the end of their useable life, with the majority reaching their 7 year 
anniversary in July 2017. It is now therefore the appropriate time to review the service options 
again in preparation for purchasing replacement vehicles and potentially making changes to the 
service.

1.3 The changes made in 2011 resulted in the authority achieving a 46% combined recycling rate 
which was higher than anticipated (42%) and has resulted in additional operational strain being 
put on the existing kerbside recycling service fleet.

1.4 There have also been a number of large scale property developments during the last 5 years 
which have increased the total property numbers and diluted the efficiency of the collection 
services. With more development to come, a routes optimisation exercise has to be undertaken 
which will have the benefit in limiting the amount of budget growth required. This exercise will 
result in collection day changes for a large part of the borough – so, no-matter which service 
option is supported collection day changes will be needed in order to limit the budgetary growth 
required, so far as is possible.

1.5 In addition, the current types of vehicle used for the kerbside sort recycling collections are 18 
tonne Terberg – “Kerbsiders”. However, these types of vehicle are no longer in production. Ubico 
Ltd (Ubico) have experienced difficulties over the past couple of years in sourcing replacements 
when there is downtime with the current fleet i.e. vehicle servicing or breakdowns, so even if the 
recycling service stays broadly the same, then the costs are likely to change as a result of having 

Page 12



7

to procure an alternative type of recycling collection vehicle.

1.6 Earlier this year Ubico and the Joint Waste Team (JWT) were asked to undertake an appraisal 
of the recycling collection service options available CBC from next year (2017), when the current 
fleet of recycling vehicles reach the end of their usable life.

1.7 In addition, the Council is keen to improve its recycling rate, increase the amount of residual 
waste diverted from landfill and, so far as possible, improve the recycling service for residents with 
as a minimum enhancement - the addition of mixed plastics and heavy cardboard being collected 
from the kerbside.

1.8 However, with continuing pressures on the authority’s budget, any changes to the service 
need to strike the right balance between improvement and affordability.

1.9 In order to gauge residents opinion, two separate consultation exercises have been completed 
and the results are presented within this report and shown at Appendix 7 & 8.

2. Service Options

2.1 The project team started off by considering all of the possible service options which totalled 20 
and are shown under ‘Original & Shortlisted Service Options’ at Appendix 2. 

2.2 It would have been impractical to model all 20 options, so these were then individually 
critiqued which saw the list reduced to 7 which are shown highlighted in green at Appendix 2. 

2.3 Ubico, using the assumptions shown at Appendix 3, completed high level modelling on these 
7 options and on 19 April, it was agreed, in consultation with the lead member, Councillor Chris 
Coleman that options 2a, 5b and 8a would go forward for in-depth modelling.

3. In-Depth Modelling

3.1 In consultation with the lead member those out of the 7 shortlisted options which didn’t strike 
the appropriate balance between cost and performance were discounted. The project team was 
left with the following options to have further in-depth modelling work completed on them: 

Option 2a (option A shown in 2nd consultation)

 Weekly food waste collection, with fortnightly chargeable garden waste, fortnightly refuse and 
with the addition of OCC (brown corrugated) cardboard and PTT (plastic – pots, tubs and 
trays) being added to the fortnightly kerbside sort recycling collections. Opportunity for other 
smaller quantity materials to also be collected i.e. Textiles, Cartons, Batteries or Small Waste 
Electricals.

Option 5b (option B shown in 2nd consultation)

 Weekly food waste collection, with fortnightly chargeable garden waste, three weekly refuse 
and with the addition of OCC (brown corrugated) cardboard and PTT (plastic – pots, tubs and 
trays) being added to the kerbside sort recycling collections on a weekly collection frequency. 
Opportunity for other smaller quantity materials to also be collected i.e. Textiles, Cartons, 
Batteries or Small Waste Electricals.

Option 8a (option C shown in 2nd consultation)

 Weekly food waste collection, with fortnightly chargeable garden waste, fortnightly refuse and 
with the addition of OCC (brown corrugated) cardboard and PTT (plastic – pots, tubs and 
trays) being added to the fortnightly kerbside recycling collection service on a co-mingled 

Page 13



8

collection basis. Opportunity for other smaller quantity materials to also be collected i.e. 
Cartons and Foil.

3.2 Ubico undertook in-depth modelling on the three options to establish the likely cost and 
performance of each based on assumptions around fuel prices, recycling material values, gate 
fees associated with using a Materials Recycling Facility (MRF) for co-mingled recyclate and the 
potential costs of procuring new vehicles and containers. In addition to the three options (2a, 5b & 
8a), Ubico also tested option 8b:

Option 8b

 Weekly food waste collection, with fortnightly chargeable garden waste, three weekly refuse 
and with the addition of OCC (brown corrugated) cardboard and PTT (plastic – pots, tubs and 
trays) being added to the fortnightly kerbside recycling collection service on a co-mingled 
collection basis. 

3.3 Recycling materials under options 2a & 5b would be sorted at the kerbside and collected by 
way of Resource Recovery Vehicles (RRV) similar to the type used in the Forest of Dean as 
shown below;

3.4 Recycling materials under options 8a & 8b would be mixed together (with the exception of 
glass bottles and jars) and collected by standard Rear Compaction Vehicles (RCV) similar to the 
type used for refuse collections in Cheltenham as shown below;

Page 14



9

4. Independent Review of In-Depth Modelling

4.1 Once Ubico had completed the in-depth modelling stage of the now 4 options, the Project 
Board commissioned an independent review to test the modelling and soundness of the 
assumptions used, verify the anticipated resources required for each option, and ultimately 
compare the likely costs against known information from within the waste management industry.

4.2 Bruce Carpenter from the Somerset Waste Partnership (SWP) undertook this task. Bruce has 
extensive knowledge and experience (35 years) within the waste management industry and, after 
running the Somerset Collection Contract under secondment for four years has undertaken similar 
reviews for Tewkesbury Borough Council and Gloucester City Council and is currently supporting 
West Oxfordshire District Council in a similar capacity. 

4.3 Bruce used the assumptions made and background data including property numbers in 
Cheltenham and the current rates of pay for the resources supplied by Ubico, together with a 
range of industry information including recycling material values, likely capture rates, costs of new 
vehicles and containers, and included the costs of communicating change. 

4.4 This was modelled to estimate a cost and performance range for each of options (2a, 5b, 8a & 
8b) and can been seen at Appendix 4, with a summary shown below;

Options  1A  2A  5B  8A  8B

  AS IS  

Enhanced 
Fortnightly 
Recycling 

(#OCC, PTT & 
other 

streams)

 

Enhanced 
Weekly 

recycling 
(including #), 

3 weekly 
refuse

 
Dual Stream 
Co-mingled 
(including #)

 

Dual stream 
Co-mingled 
(including #) 

with 3 
weekly 
refuse

Anticipated 
Performanc
e

 45.34%  47.21%  52.03%  48.65%  51.44%

Best case 
estimate of 
cost 

 
 £  1,972,000 

 
 £  2,118,535 

 
 £  1,963,542 

  £  
2,239,403 

  £  
2,136,246 

Potential 
variance 
range due to 
assumptions

 

 £     148,201 

 

 £     158,891 

 

 £     186,168 

 
 £     

187,132 

 
 £     

197,271 
Worst case 
estimate of 
cost 

 
 £  2,120,201 

 
 £  2,277,426 

 
 £  2,149,710 

  £  
2,426,535 

  £  
2,333,517 

4.5 The ‘AS IS’ option is included for the benefit of comparing the current service costs to the four 
options however, given that the current vehicles used for recycling collection are not available in 
the future, option 1a is in effect the standstill position and shows the anticipated cost range for the 
current service using new vehicles; 

4.6 As detailed in the assumptions, each option allows for known property development over the 
next 3-5 years within Cheltenham and is based on a collection round optimisation including day 
changes.

# OCC = Brown Cardboard, PTT = Plastic Pots, Tubs & Trays, Other Streams = Items which 
could also be collected but which haven’t yet been confirmed such as Textiles, Shoes, Cartons, 
Batteries or Small Waste Electricals (WEEE)

Page 15



10

 The red line shows the current costs of the waste and recycling service 

 The solid blue bars show the lower cost threshold of each option

 The hatched blue bars show the upper cost threshold of each option and takes account of the 
uncontrolled factors such as material values and fuel prices

Page 16



11

5. Modelling and Independent Review Conclusions

5.1 Following the in-depth modelling undertaken by Ubico and the independent review completed 
by Bruce Carpenter, the following conclusions were drawn:

Option
Option 2a – (A)
 
 Weekly food waste collection
 Fortnightly chargeable garden 

waste
 Fortnightly refuse
 Fortnightly kerbside sort 

recycling collections.
 Addition of OCC (brown 

corrugated) cardboard and 
PTT (plastic – pots, tubs and 
trays) plus other recyclables 
yet to be confirmed.

 Using new recycling vehicles which have 
greater capacity, there should be the 
opportunity available to collect other smaller 
quantity recycling materials such as textiles, 
cartons and batteries.

 This option should deliver a small recycling 
performance increase of nearly 2% and will 
cost an estimated £146,535 more in the 
best case and £305,426 more in the worst 
case to deliver.

Option 5b – (B)

 Weekly food waste collection
 Fortnightly chargeable garden 

waste
 Three weekly refuse 
 Weekly kerbside sort 

recycling collections.
 Addition of OCC (brown 

corrugated) cardboard and 
PTT (plastic – pots, tubs and 
trays) plus other recyclables 
yet to be confirmed. 

 Using new recycling vehicles which have 
greater capacity, there should be the 
opportunity available to collect other smaller 
quantity recycling materials such as textiles, 
cartons and batteries.

 This option should deliver the largest 
recycling performance increase of nearly 
7% and will cost an estimated £8,458 less in 
the best case and £177,710 more in the 
worst case to deliver.

 The likely costs of this option under the 
worst case scenario are only marginally 
more expensive than the best case costs of 
options 8a & 8b however, there would likely 
be some opposition to three weekly refuse 
collections from certain residents.

Option 8a – (C)

 Weekly food waste collection
 Forrtnightly chargeable garden 

waste,
 Fortnightly refuse 
 Fortnightly kerbside co-

minged recycling collection 
service 

 Addition of OCC (brown 
corrugated) cardboard and 
PTT (plastic – pots, tubs and 
trays plus other recyclables yet 
to be confirmed.

 This is likely to be the most expensive 
option and should only deliver a small 
recycling performance increase of just over 
3%. The costs are estimated to be 
£267,403 more in the best case and 
£454,535 more in the worst case to deliver. 

 The additional cost is primarily associated 
with the authority losing any income from 
material value and having to pay a gate fee 
at a MRF, and the cost of changing from a 
kerbside box to procuring and delivering 
new wheeled bins for all households.

Page 17



12

Option 8b

 weekly food waste collection,
 fortnightly chargeable garden 

waste
 three weekly refuse
 Fortnightly kerbside co-

minged recycling collection 
service

 addition of OCC (brown 
corrugated) cardboard and 
PTT (plastic – pots, tubs and 
trays) plus other recyclables 
yet to be confirmed being 
added to the fortnightly 
kerbside recycling collection 
service on a co-mingled 
collection basis.

 This option should deliver a significant 
recycling performance increase of just over 
6% and will cost an estimated £164,246 
more in the best case and £361,517 more in 
the worst case to deliver.

 The additional cost is primarily associated 
with the authority losing any income from 
material value and having to pay a gate fee 
at a MRF, and the cost of changing from a 
kerbside box to procuring and delivering 
new wheeled bins for all households.

 There would likely be some opposition to 
three weekly refuse collections from certain 
residents.

5.2 Other more rural authorities have changed their waste collection service recently and to afford 
the increased budget required, have removed/reduced the bring site service - for example weekly 
recycling has been offered in the Forest of Dean and the savings on reducing the number of bring 
sites has gone towards the additional costs. FoD consulted the public and there was support to 
close the bring sites with the improved service offered at the kerbside however, the net costs of 
the FoD bring site service were far more than the Cheltenham service principally because of the 
greater distances involved. A brief review of the current CBC bring site service, together with what 
happens elsewhere in the County is attached at Appendix 5.  

5.3 As part of the 2nd Consultation exercise as shown at Appendix 8, although the anticipated 
savings from removing the bring site service would be smaller in Cheltenham, the authority has 
included it as an option to go towards funding any service improvements at the kerbside. 

6. Recycling Material Commodities

6.1 Recycling material commodities (paper, glass, cardboard, cans and plastics) play an 
important part in generating income which the Council receives directly and which goes towards 
offsetting some of the costs of collection.

6.2 Under options 2a & 5b the Council would still continue to receive recycling material income 
however under option 8a, all income would be retained by the MRF.

6.3 Commodity prices fluctuate and to show how they’ve been affected over time the JWT 
presented a report to the Joint Waste Committee (JWC) in October this year as shown at 
Appendix 6.

7. Swindon Road Household Recycling Centre

7.1 Household Recycling Centres (HRC) are traditionally operated by County Council’s 
throughout the UK.

7.2 The Swindon Road HRC is one of only two sites where a district/borough authority 
owns/operates independently of the County Council – the other being in Wellingborough although 
that facility is far smaller with a net annual cost of approximately £100,000.

Page 18



13

7.3 The Cheltenham facility is well used by residents and achieves over 70% combined recycling 
and composting performance per annum, which counts towards the authorities overall 
performance.

7.4 However, the facility is a discretionary service and is a net cost to the authority to provide of 
approximately £400,000 per annum.

7.5 In order to finance a change to a co-mingled recycling collection service (option 8a) it would 
have been necessary to make significant savings elsewhere. To gauge public appetite, the option 
of permanently closing the Swindon Road HRC was included as part of the 2nd consultation.

8. Consultation and feedback

8.1 In July this year, the Council ran a first consultation exercise to learn the views of residents on 
the waste and recycling service being received and opinion on areas of potential improvement, 
the results of which can be found at Appendix 7.

8.2 In summary, the Council received c1,900 responses and the results showed that recycling in 
Cheltenham is popular amongst residents with the majority welcoming the ability to recycle a 
greater selection of materials from home in the future. It also gave a clear indication of the areas 
where people were happy with and those which could be improved.

8.3 Having tested options 2a, 5b, 8a & 8b by way of the in-depth and independent modelling, and 
discounted option 8b because it didn’t strike the appropriate balance between cost and 
performance, options 2a, 5b & 8a were put forward and residents were invited to choose their 
preferred option for waste and recycling collections, as part of the second consultation which ran 
during October and November, the results of which are shown at Appendix 8.

8.4 For clarity option 2a is shown as option A, option 5b is shown as option B and option 8a is 
shown as option C.

8.5 The Council received c3200 responses and the results show that the majority of residents 
favour option 2a (option A as shown in consultation) as being the preferred waste and recycling 
service option for Cheltenham and that there is little support in permanently closing the Swindon 
Road HRC.

#Both consultations used a dedicated page on the Councils website together with paper copies 
being available at Council and County Council buildings. The consultations were heavily 
publicised using the Gloucestershire Echo, Council website, and through Facebook and Twitter.

9. Conclusions

9.1 The Project Board & Team made up of officers from the Council, Ubico and the JWT have 
used a methodical approach in reviewing the waste and recycling service options available, 
shortlisting those options, independently testing them and then consulting with residents. 

9.2 These actions have enabled the Project Board & Team, in consultation with the Cabinet 
Member, to conclude that Option 2a (option A in the 2nd consultation) is the recommended waste 
and recycling service for Cheltenham from 2017.

9.3 Shown at Appendix 9 is a Community Impact Assessment based on option 2a (option A in the 
2nd consultation).

9.4 Even if the recommendation on the new service model isn’t approved, then a waste and 
recycling collection rounds route optimisation exercise will have to be undertaken to manage the 
significant property development currently underway and planned for the next 3-5 years.

Page 19



14

10. Performance management – monitoring and review

10.1 Once introduced, the new service will be monitored by the JWT with opportunity for Council 
officers and the Cabinet Lead to review as part of the imbedded contract monitoring and 
management processes already undertaken. 

11. Reasons for recommendations

11.1 The pre-requisite for the waste and recycling service redesign is to introduce improvements 
which strike the correct balance between affordability and performance and as a minimum 
aspiration, to introduce mixed plastics and heavy cardboard recycling at the kerbside.

11.2 Option 2a (A in the 2nd consultation), is affordable based on the Councils current financial 
constraints and allows for the introduction of mixed plastics and heavy cardboard, with the 
opportunity to introduce some other smaller volume materials as well. 

11.3 It allows the opportunity to improve performance and doesn’t require the removal of other 
well used services i.e. the Swindon Road HRC to fund it.

Report author Contact officer: scott.williams@cotswold.gov.uk

Appendices  1. Risk Assessment

2. Original & Shortlisted Service Options

3. Modelling Assumptions used by Ubico

4. Independent Modelling Results

5. Cost of providing recycling banks in Cheltenham Borough

6. Recycling Material Commodity Values

7. 1st Consultation Exercise

8. 2nd Consultation Exercise

9. Community Impact Assessment

Page 20



$ax43bxzx.docx Page 15 of 52 Last updated 25 November 2016

Risk Assessment Appendix 1 

The risk Original risk score
(impact x likelihood)

Managing risk

Risk ref. Risk description Risk
Owner

Date raised Impact
1-5

Likeli-
hood
1-6

Score Control Action Deadline Responsible
officer

Transferred 
to risk 
register

R001 If the 
implementation 
of the new waste 
and recycling 
service is 
delayed then 
there will be 
additional costs 
associated with 
the hire of 
vehicles to 
compensate for 
the deteriorating 
fleet.

Martin 
Stacy

20.4.16 3 4 12 Reduce Cabinet and Council 
approval of new 
service proposals will 
trigger the 
implementation phase 
of the project. 

Cabinet Member 
Working Group will 
oversee 
implementation by the 
Project Board.

Project Board will 
monitor the 
procurement, build and 
delivery timeline to 
ensure that it meets 
the September 2017 
service launch 
aspiration and provide 
monthly progress 
reports to the Council’s 
senior leadership 
team. 

Sept 
17

Steve Read / 
Scott Williams

R002 If availability of 
suitable new 
recycling 
vehicles is 
outside of 
project 
implementation 
timescale, then 

Martin 
Stacy

18.05.16 3 4 12 Reduce Maintain awareness of 
delivery times for 
Romaquip and follow 
development of 
Terberg vehicle. 
Enquiries to Colin 
White Services (CWS) 
and look into whether 

Sept 
17

Scott Williams 
/ Beth 
Boughton 

P
age 21



$ax43bxzx.docx Page 16 of 52 Last updated 25 November 2016

the project might 
be delayed - 
Romaquip quote 
12 month lead in 
time - Terberg 
do not have a 
similar model on 
the market yet.

CWS vehicles can be 
obtained short term if 
needed

Commence tender 
process upon approval 
by Council.  

Build in delivery date 
for vehicles in tender 
specification and 
include a penalty 
clause for late delivery.

R003 If Ubico does not 
have the 
capacity to 
resource phase 
2 of the project 
then 
implementation 
may be delayed 
or not completed 
satisfactorily.

Martin 
Stacy

03.03.16 4 2 8 Reduce Ubico to advise / give 
early warning of issues 
to Project Team

Phase 2 project plan to 
be agreed shortly 
which will identify pinch 
points and pieces of 
work which may 
require increased 
resourcing.

Sept 
17

Beth 
Boughton

R004 If vehicles for 
preferred option 
are more 
expensive than 
assumed this 
could distort the 
conclusions 
supporting the 
recommended 
best option.

Martin 
Stacy

04.08.16 4 2 8 Reduce Modelling has been 
independently verified 
using industry specific 
information including 
vehicle costs.
Maintain dialogue with 
manufacturers, early 
warning, place into 
budget and seek to 
identify savings/income 
generation 
opportunities within 
waste and recycling 
service if required

Mar 
17

Steve Read / 
Scott Williams 
/ Paul Jones / 
Beth 
Boughton

P
age 22



$ax43bxzx.docx Page 17 of 52 Last updated 25 November 2016

R005 If the service 
costs more than 
anticipated and 
budgeted, then 
there will be an 
overspend 
against the 
revenue budget. 
The modelling 
has provided a 
lowest cost best 
estimate and a 
highest cost best 
estimate. For the 
purpose of 
building the 
additional 
budget into the 
MTFS, the 
lowest budgeted 
cost under 
option 2a has 
been used.

Martin 
Stacy

16.11.16 3 2 6 Reduce The project team have 
used Ubico’s 
experience of the 
current Cheltenham 
services to do the 
modelling which has 
then been 
independently verified 
against industry 
specific factors to 
arrive at the 
anticipated cost. 
The project team will 
keep a close eye on 
the delivery and 
revenue budget 
requirements as part of 
the implementation 
and any anticipated 
variances will be 
reported to the Cabinet 
Lead and Section 151 
officer.
A further review of 
garden waste charges 
could be undertaken 
along with looking at 
potential savings from 
the bring sites and 
household recycling 
centre services in 
addition to increasing 
service related fees 
and charges subject to 
relevant approvals.

Sept 
17

Steve Read / 
Scott Williams 
/ Paul Jones / 
Beth 
Boughton

P
age 23



$ax43bxzx.docx Page 18 of 52 Last updated 25 November 2016

Original & Shortlisted Service Options Appendix 2

OPTION     A B
 Recycling  Food  Refuse  

1 Current Service Fortnightly - Paper, Cans, Glass, Plastic Bottles & Kitchen 
Card  Weekly  Fortnightly 3 Weekly

2 Current Service Fortnightly with the addition of Mixed Plastics and 
Cardboard  Weekly  Fortnightly 3 Weekly

3 Current Service Fortnightly with the addition of Mixed Plastics, Cardboard 
& other recyclables (Cartons, Textiles, Batteries & Small WEEE)  Weekly  Fortnightly 3 Weekly

       

4 Current Service Weekly - Paper, Cans, Glass, Plastic Bottles & Kitchen 
Card  Weekly  Fortnightly 3 Weekly

5
Current Service Weekly with the addition of Mixed Plastics and Cardboard  Weekly  Fortnightly 3 Weekly

6 Current Service Weekly with the addition of Mixed Plastics, Cardboard & 
other recyclables (Cartons, Textiles, Batteries & Small WEEE)  Weekly  Fortnightly 3 Weekly

       
7 Co-mingled Fortnightly including Glass  Weekly  Fortnightly 3 Weekly
8 Co-mingled Fortnightly with Glass collected separately  Weekly  Fortnightly 3 Weekly
       
9 Co-mingled Weekly including Glass  Weekly  Fortnightly 3 Weekly
10 Co-mingled Weekly with Glass collected separately  Weekly  Fortnightly 3 Weekly

Shortlisted Options to Model
Discounted Options following initial review

P
age 24



$ax43bxzx.docx Page 19 of 52 Last updated 25 November 2016

Option Rationale 
1a Current Service to give baseline based on model used

2a Add mixed plastics & cardboard - no other changes - to give indication of (presumed) extra cost  in isolation of other factors  

3b Very enhanced kerbside recycling (still fortnightly) with three weekly refuse to balance (presumed) extra cost and/or provide savings

5b Enhanced kerbside recycling weekly but with three weekly refuse to balance (presumed) extra cost and/or savings

6b Very enhanced kerbside recycling weekly but with three weekly refuse to balance (presumed) extra cost

8a Co-mingled alternating week model - Glass out method on basis of Waste Regulations compliance

8b Co-mingled fortnightly with refuse 3 weekly - Glass out method on basis of Waste Regulations complianceP
age 25



$ax43bxzx.docx Page 20 of 52 Last updated 25 November 2016

Modelling Assumptions used by Ubico Appendix 3

1. Fuel prices based on £1.15 per litre
2. Current CBC depot location used
3. Current tipping locations used – for separate food waste collections it has been modelled on tipping directly at An-digestion
4. All vehicles purchased from new
5. Weights of collection rounds gained from June and July 2015
6. Pick rates gained from crew finishing times in June and July 2015
7. Based on Ubico terms and conditions for staff  – includes NI and Ubico Super
8. Includes over time for bank holidays and agency cover for holidays and sickness – based on working 8 Saturdays and 35 days agency cover per 
person
9. Operatives uniform costs included – based on £400 per person – gained from Ubico CDC
10. Spare vehicles not included
11. Cost of vehicles deprecating over a period of 7 years
12. Does include MRF disposal fees
13. Does include income
14. Does not take into consideration the bin delivery service, bring sites and CA site
15. Does include purchase and distribution of receptacles
16. Does take into consideration communications and monitoring costs of a scheme change
17. Does take into consideration the following housing developments:
• Circa Cheltenham/Tommy Taylors Road
• Guinevere Road
• Gabell Road and Delancey Crescent
• Old Farm Drive
• Festival Way
• Starvehall  Farm/New Barn Lane
• Saxon Quarter
• Shurdington Road development, Leckhampton
18. Does not take into consideration proposed North East Cheltenham development
19. For the semi comingled recycling options, pick rates based on what the current refuse crews pic rates are
20. For the semi comingled options, yields based on the Tewkesbury pick rates
21. Kerbside sort options based on using either Romaquip or Terberg 12 tonne Resource Recovery Vehicles
22. For the kerbside sort options yields of new materials based on the Cotswolds data
23. For the weekly recycling options, food waste to be collected by the recycling crews
24. For the enhanced kerbside sort recycling system with 3 weekly refuse, modelling was based on consultation with Somerset Waste Partnership and 
what they have found out in their trials and also on what Eunomia have found – This area needs further investigation to properly quantify resources required. A 
lot of councils who have looked at this option have undertaken trials

P
age 26



$ax43bxzx.docx Page 21 of 52 Last updated 25 November 2016

Independent Modelling Results Appendix 4 

1A 2A 5B 8A 8B

AS IS Enhanced KS
Weekly recycling, 3 weekly 

refuse
Dual Stream

Dual stream with 3 weekly 
refuse

Recycling

PTT

180 180 180 180 180

CHARGED CHARGED CHARGED CHARGED CHARGED

Dry recycling Kerbsider RRV S/B RCV S/B RCV

Food FWV/Kerbsider RRV/FWV FWV FWV

Refuse RCV RCV RCV RCV RCV

Garden RCV RCV RCV RCV RCV

809,532£                                   809,532£                                   635,932£                                   809,532£                                   635,932£                                   
330,260£                                   458,863£                                   38,016£                                     458,863£                                   458,863£                                   

50,031£                                     50,031£                                     50,031£                                     50,031£                                     50,031£                                     
1,374,510£                               1,462,414£                               2,016,899£                               1,040,648£                               1,073,330£                               

130,000£                                  130,000£                                  130,000£                                  130,000£                                  130,000£                                  
Collections Sub-Total 2,728,155£                             2,694,333£                               2,910,840£                               2,870,878£                               2,489,074£                               2,348,156£                               

19,920£                                     19,920£                                     19,920£                                     229,740£                                   245,962£                                   
172,200£                                   172,200£                                   172,200£                                   40,200£                                     40,200£                                     

-£                                                -£                                                -£                                                107,638£                                   107,638£                                   
-£                                                -£                                                -£                                                -£                                                -£                                                
-£                                                -£                                                25,000£                                     -£                                                25,000£                                     

Material Value 201,200-£                                401,320-£                                   441,302-£                                   521,766-£                                   65,345-£                                     65,345-£                                     
Recycling Credits 364,800-£                                416,752-£                                   466,144-£                                   542,960-£                                   485,324-£                                   508,035-£                                   
landfill avoidance incentive 77,000-£                                   77,000-£                                     77,000-£                                     100,000-£                                   77,000-£                                     100,000-£                                   

-£                                                -£                                                -£                                                -£                                                -£                                                
CBC Net Revenue impact 2,085,155£                             1,991,381£                               2,118,514£                               1,923,272£                               2,238,983£                               2,093,576£                               

93,774-£                                     33,359£                                     161,883-£                                   153,828£                                   8,421£                                       
0.96 1.02 0.92 1.07 1.00

-£                                                52,038-£                                     262,116-£                                   151,136-£                                   303,851-£                                   
1,991,381£                               2,066,476£                               1,661,156£                               2,087,847£                               1,789,725£                               

2,090,407£                               2,486,407£                               2,708,047£                               2,266,407£                               2,160,047£                               
-£                                                -£                                                -£                                                1,076,375£                               1,076,375£                               
-£                                                27,250£                                     54,500£                                     27,250£                                     54,500£                                     

25,000£                                     25,000£                                     
2,090,407£                               2,513,657£                               2,762,547£                               3,370,032£                               3,290,922£                               

Annual Material Tonnages CBC 15/16
Refuse 20624 20624 19742 17047 18714 16988
CA Residual 2163 2163 2163 2163 2163 2163
Litter 2889 2889 2889 2889 2889 2889
Food 2747 2747 2747 3173 2747 3173
Garden 4639 4639 4639 4639 4639 4639
CA Green 2298 2298 2298 2298 2298 2298
Dry recycling 6296 6296 7178 8550 8207 8612
Bring sites 1146 1146 1146 1146 460 460
3rd parties 222 222 222 222 222 222
CA Recycling 3370 3370 3370 3370 3370 3370
Reuse 576 576 576 576 576 576
Total waste arisings 46970 46970 46970 46073 46284 45390
Recycling rate 45.3% 45.3% 47.2% 52.0% 48.7% 51.4%

WDA Additional Revenue impacts
Total whole system cost

New Containers inc. delivery

Textiles
Others: SWEEE, batteries, cartons, foil etc
Glass
Food
Refuse
Garden Waste

Communications
Additional client support (on-going)

Garden waste revenue

Variance from existing

PERFORMANCE 

Capital items/0ne off costs
Vehicles

Communications
Additional client support (year 1)
Total capital/one off costs

Paper 
Cardboard
Mixed cans
Plastic bottles

Annualised container cost (over 10 years)

Front line vehicle configuration
RRV

Refuse
Food
Garden - just overhead
Recycling
Bring sites

Other services (clinical, bulky etc)
MRF gate fees
Materials handling costs

UBICO Collection costs 2017/18

Cost index

OPTION

KERBSIDE SORT Comingled 

Service Configuration Existing Kerbsider service
Enhanced KS service using 

RRVs
Enhanced KS service, 3 weekly 

refuse
FN Comingled recycling with 
separate glass, AWC refuse

FN Comingled recycling with 
separate glass, 3 weekly 

refuse

P
age 27



$ax43bxzx.docx Page 22 of 52 Last updated 25 November 2016

Cost of providing recycling banks in Cheltenham Borough Appendix 5

Tonnage and cost figures in this appendix are provisional but are believed to be correct.

CBC - Current Service 
There are 13 sites in the Borough, all located in Council or Supermarket Car Parks.

The banks are all provided and serviced by Ubico except for textiles (Devizes Textiles) and foil (Oakley Resource Centre).  No supermarkets or other 
organisations are providing bring banks (a small number of “rogue” unauthorized textile banks have recently been removed).

The range of materials collected is standard across all sites except for the High St. Car Park which is smaller and only contains banks for Textiles and 
Glass/Cans.  At the other 12 sites the materials are:-

 Paper
 Cans
 Glass
 Mixed Plastic
 Card
 Textiles 
 Foil (some sites only)

The banks are serviced by Ubico using two, driver only, skip vehicles. These are fully deployed on this service. On this basis the only efficient options would 
be to either reduce the number of sites by half or cease the service provided by Ubico altogether.  

The gross annual cost of providing the service is £130K pa, most of which is due to running the vehicles (JWC estimate approx. £100k pa) and handling of 
material and a small amount of overhead. The materials marketing is undertaken as part of the role of the JWT and not split out, however in reality there is no 
extra cost as the material from kerbside collection is already / will be marketed.

Total tonnage was 978T in 2015/16. 

The income from sale of materials is around £50K at current prices and income from Recycling Credits is around £55K.  It should be noted that the banks are 
probably heavily used by small businesses as a free outlet and, technically, Recycling Credits should only be paid on household material. However the 
difficulty of accounting for household versus commercial sourced material is accepted by the County Council and Credits are paid on the full amount.  

It is reasonable to assume that a proportion of this material would not switch to the kerbside should banks be withdrawn, thus reducing the overall income to 
CBC and also adversely affecting the CBC recycling rate. If, say, 50% of material from the banks was from commercial sources and was not diverted to the 
kerbside service, the CBC recycling rate would reduce by around 1.1% (all else being equal).   

P
age 28



$ax43bxzx.docx Page 23 of 52 Last updated 25 November 2016

The net cost of the service is around £25Kpa or £25K/T which is highly cost effective.

Other Gloucestershire Authorities

FoDDC
A key aim of the FoDDC Review in 2015 was to provide cardboard and plastic bottle collection from the kerbside.  In order to achieve this, consideration was 
given to removing bring banks across the District to make savings to implement the kerbside collection. 

Banks at FoDDC fell into two main categories:-

 5 sites with very large 26 yard banks for cardboard and plastics bottles only. These were at a net cost of £121k per annum.
 34 sites with 1100ltr recycling banks for plastic bottles, paper, glass, cans, serving "difficult to access" properties.  These are serviced at a net cost of 

£132k per annum.

FoDDC resolved to remove the large banks as part of the new service model as cardboard and plastic bottles would be collected at the kerbside.  The 34 
smaller sites are remaining.

The saving from withdrawing the large recycling banks is a factor in facilitating the new weekly recycling service without extra cost. Other offsetting factors 
include additional income from sale of material (at FoDDC’s risk), additional Recycling Credits and the food waste supply agreement. 

Stroud 
Stroud are understood to have reduced the number of bring sites in recent years with a further tranche of removals as part of their new service model 
commencing in November 2016. Further details are awaited.

Gloucester City
Gloucester City operate four large bring sites for card and mixed plastic only at major supermarkets at a net cost of around £50Kpa. While not able to provide 
a definitive position, JWT understands that GCC are not intending to make any changes to bring banks as part of their current service review. 

Cotswold
Cotswold reviewed their bring banks provision at the end of 2015 and, following consultation with members, have decided to withdraw from a number of 
smaller sites which are infrequently used and increase the range of materials at the larger sites. These changes, once implemented will mean that there are 
still over 20 bring sites in operation. Bring sites will be considered again as part of the Cotswold service review commencing in 2017/2018.

Tewkesbury
Prior to 2010 TBC collected glass, cans and plastic bottles across around 55 sites (community centres, pubs etc) and cardboard at 5 large supermarket / 
council car park sites.  Material was delivered to Printwaste. 

P
age 29



$ax43bxzx.docx Page 24 of 52 Last updated 25 November 2016

When the current service was introduced in 2010 the majority of banks were removed, leaving just 5 council operated sites with co-mingled banks for (1) 
plastics, glass, cartons and cans and (2) flattened card and paper. These are serviced by the recycling collection RCVs and the collections are scheduled in 
with the recycling collections in those areas.  The detail of the total saving from 2010 is being researched. 

Conclusion
CBC bring site provision is quite comprehensive compared to other partners and sites are well used, bringing in around 1000T of material per annum.  

The service is efficient in terms of cost per tonne recycled but runs at a relatively small deficit (£25kpa) at current income levels. If material prices recover in 
the future the service could break even or better. 

Assuming the bank service was completely withdrawn, and only 50% of material from the banks was diverted to the kerbside service, the CBC recycling rate 
would reduce by around 1.1% (all else being equal).

P
age 30



$ax43bxzx.docx Page 25 of 52 Last updated 25 November 2016

Recycling Material Commodity Values Appendix 6

Overview of Market Conditions for Recyclable Materials
 

Committee Gloucestershire Joint Waste Committee 

Committee 
Date 4 October 2016

Decision? No

Responsible 
Officers

Steve Read, Head of Service, Gloucestershire Joint Waste Team 
(01823 625707; steve.read@gloucestershire.gov.uk); 

Main 
Consultees None

Purpose of 
Report

To present an overview of trading conditions in the recyclable 
materials market 

Recommend-
ations It is recommended that the Committee:

Notes the contents of the report

Resource 
Implications None 

P
age 31

mailto:01823
mailto:steve.read@gloucestershire.gov.uk


$ax43bxzx.docx Page 26 of 52 Last updated 25 November 2016

1. Background 

1.1 At the Joint Waste Committee (JWC) meeting on 21st June 2016, members requested a briefing paper explaining the recycling materials 
commodity market, particularly with regard to market price variations over time.

1.2 The purpose of this report is to present an overview of how recycling commodities are managed by each of the JWC partner authorities, 
explain the role of macro-economic and industry-specific factors and detail how commodity prices have risen and fallen over recent years. 

1.3 It is important to note that income received from sale of materials and (separately, from recycling credits paid by Gloucestershire County 
Council to collection authorities) cover only a fraction of the costs of collecting the material. Household recycling in the UK has developed 
as result of targets, statutory duty and financial instruments (principally Landfill Tax). Recycling Services remain a significant net cost to 
collection authorities.    

1.4 Each of the partner authorities has its own arrangements for managing recycling commodities as presented below;

Partner
Contractual 
Arrangements Income Benefits/Risks

Cheltenham 
Borough 
Council

Has contracts in 
place directly with 
recycling material 
re-processors

Receives 
income 
directly

Able to secure high end of 
available prices but takes 
risk of market variations 

Cotswold 
District Council

Has a contract in 
place with a single 
recycling materials 
broker

Receives 
income 
directly

Able to secure good 
prices but takes risk of 
market variations 

Forest of Dean 
District Council

Biffa markets 
materials on behalf 
of the council in 
consultation with 
JWT officers

Receives 
income via 
Biffa

Able to secure high end of 
available prices but takes 
risk of market variations
(Note: Biffa takes all 
income for textiles and 
WEEE under the new 

P
age 32



$ax43bxzx.docx Page 27 of 52 Last updated 25 November 2016

service / contract 
extension arrangements) 

Tewkesbury 
Borough 
Council

Co-mingled  
materials are 
delivered to the 
Grundon Materials 
Recycling Facility 
(MRF) and TBC pay 
a gate fee per tonne 
for processing. 
Grundons market 
the material derived 

Income 
retained by 
MRF to 
offset some 
of the 
processing  
costs

Market and quality risk is 
taken by the contractor. 
The new contract currently 
out to tender will involve a 
risk/reward sharing 
formula to vary the gate 
fee according to market 
price variations

Gloucestershire 
County Council

Has new contracts 
in place directly with 
recycling material 
re-processors

Receives 
income 
directly

Able to secure high end of 
available prices but takes 
risk of market variations.

1.5 In summary, Cheltenham Borough Council, Cotswold District Council and Forest of Dean District Council have contracts in place with 
recycling re-processors/recycling material handlers (brokers) or their contactor and receive income derived from the recycling materials. 

1.6 Tewkesbury Borough Council pays a gate fee to deliver into a Materials Recycling Facility (MRF), so the value of the material goes to 
offset some of the MRF operator’s costs. This meant that the contractor took the full risk of variations in materials prices. This was no 
longer sustainable for them and therefore the contract will not be extended and is now out to tender.

1.7 Under Gloucestershire County Council’s recently expired Household Recyclable Centre (HRC) contract with Kier, the contractor was 
responsible for marketing recyclable material brought to HRCs and retained all income to offset their costs. This also meant that the 
contractor took the full risk of variations in materials prices. This was no longer sustainable for them and Kier sought to negotiate a 
contract extension on the basis of a higher contract price to recoup loss of income. JWT undertook an options appraisal and the decision 
was taken by the County Council to join Ubico to enable them to provide the service.

P
age 33



$ax43bxzx.docx Page 28 of 52 Last updated 25 November 2016

1.8 Ubico took over the contract on 7th August 2016 on the basis that this would provide a net saving in overall service cost, albeit the JWT 
now arranges the contracts with off-takers and GCC retains all income. This exposes the County Council to both upside and downside 
risks. The level of risk was accepted by GCC after a sensitivity analysis of market variations.

2. Macro-economic and Industry-specific Drivers 

2.1 The market for recyclable materials has seen high growth in volumes over the last 20 years as recycling schemes have been rolled out in 
the household and commercial sectors. There have been a number of “bubbles” when rising demand outstripped supply resulting in high 
prices followed by a rapid slump in prices as supply came into balance with demand. An early example occurred in the paper market in the 
late 1990s. This was not as a result of changes in the global economy but down to instability in an immature market. 

2.2 A relatively stable period followed but since 2008, the recycling commodity market was affected by the global slowdown and the value of 
some material has not recovered to pre 2008 levels.  

2.3 The recycling industry is to a degree an indicator of how the economy is doing as the supply and demand depend on the consumption of 
goods, and the willingness to invest in new processes and facilities which could stimulate demand and provide new outlets for secondary 
materials.

2.4 Commodity prices recovered slightly after 2008 but then fell in 2012 and again in 2013 by about 10%, although they were still generally 
higher than immediately before the crash. Recent trends have been towards less volatility but remaining lower than the heady days of the 
mid 2000s when a number of businesses built their business model around sustained buoyancy.  

2.5 It should be noted that each of the materials predominantly has its own separate market and may be affected by industry specific issues 
so prices may rise and fall due to both macro and industry-specific factors. An example of the latter occurred in February 2015 when one 
of the three large newspaper mills in the UK (Aylesford, Kent) went into receivership without warning. This was in itself a reflection of 
reduced demand for newsprint, part of the declining role of printed media in society. The resultant glut of recycled newspapers and 
magazines caused a drop in prices and also allowed the two remaining UK mills to be more picky about which material they took in. This 
also illustrated that kerbside sorted material has higher security of offtake as cleaner kerbside sorted material was taken in preference to 
much ex-MRF material.  A further industry-specific example occurred in the cardboard sector at the end of 2015 when a number of smaller 
and middle-sized mills in China bought less or nothing at all as they were waiting for import licences. 

2.6 Exports to China have firmed up again as a result of the licensing arrangements being resolved. In the UK Smurfit Kappa opened a new 
lightweight board manufacturing machine at Snodland, Kent in February this year. These have had a positive impact on demand and 
contributed to the price of brown cardboard improving in 2016.

P
age 34



$ax43bxzx.docx Page 29 of 52 Last updated 25 November 2016

2.7 However the outlook for mixed fibre grades is less positive. Mixed paper usually consists of grey board, and lower grade papers after 
newspapers, magazines, pamphlets and office grade paper have been largely removed. Again the quality of the material is a factor: the 
higher the level of contamination, the more pre-processing is needed to clean it up, which adds cost to the manufacturing process, so 
prices are lower accordingly. Another factor which the recovered paper / cardboard sector is having to take on board is moisture content. 
Unsurprisingly re-processors do not wish to pay for water and several exporters to China are now imposing penalty charges on material 
that is wet. More stringent tests are being imposed and buyers are adopting a stricter approach. 

2.8 The Vote to leave the EU has weakened the pound which has made exports from the UK more attractive. Early signs are that this has had 
a positive impact on commodity prices.  The long term impact on aspects such as confidence to invest in new and replacement plant in the 
UK is, of course, still to be determined.

2.9 Whilst not having the ability to directly affect the market, authorities stand the best chance in being able to secure competitive prices and 
having guaranteed outlets for materials collected by providing good quality recycling materials.

3. Material Specific Trends 

3.1 The graphs below show how prices have varied on a product by product basis during the period April 2008 to March 2016. In the main, the 
prices have an upper and lower threshold and re-processors use this as a guide when offering prices to the market. We have taken the 
mid-point where there is an upper and lower threshold.

P
age 35



$ax43bxzx.docx Page 30 of 52 Last updated 25 November 2016

A
pr

-0
8

Ju
l-0

8
O

ct
-0

8
Ja

n-
09

A
pr

-0
9

Ju
l-0

9
O

ct
-0

9
Ja

n-
10

A
pr

-1
0

Ju
l-1

0
O

ct
-1

0
Ja

n-
11

A
pr

-1
1

Ju
l-1

1
O

ct
-1

1
Ja

n-
12

A
pr

-1
2

Ju
l-1

2
O

ct
-1

2
Ja

n-
13

A
pr

-1
3

Ju
l-1

3
O

ct
-1

3
Ja

n-
14

A
pr

-1
4

Ju
l-1

4
O

ct
-1

4
Ja

n-
15

A
pr

-1
5

Ju
l-1

5
O

ct
-1

5
Ja

n-
16

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

News and Pams £'s per tonne

News and Pams £'s per tonne 2008 - 2016

P
age 36



$ax43bxzx.docx Page 31 of 52 Last updated 25 November 2016

A
pr

-0
8

Ju
l-0

8
O

ct
-0

8
Ja

n-
09

A
pr

-0
9

Ju
l-0

9
O

ct
-0

9
Ja

n-
10

A
pr

-1
0

Ju
l-1

0
O

ct
-1

0
Ja

n-
11

A
pr

-1
1

Ju
l-1

1
O

ct
-1

1
Ja

n-
12

A
pr

-1
2

Ju
l-1

2
O

ct
-1

2
Ja

n-
13

A
pr

-1
3

Ju
l-1

3
O

ct
-1

3
Ja

n-
14

A
pr

-1
4

Ju
l-1

4
O

ct
-1

4
Ja

n-
15

A
pr

-1
5

Ju
l-1

5
O

ct
-1

5
Ja

n-
16

-30

-20

-10

0

10

20

30

Mixed Glass £'s per tonne

Mixed Glass £'s per tonne 2008 - 2016

P
age 37



$ax43bxzx.docx Page 32 of 52 Last updated 25 November 2016

A
pr

-0
8

Ju
l-0

8
O

ct
-0

8
Ja

n-
09

A
pr

-0
9

Ju
l-0

9
O

ct
-0

9
Ja

n-
10

A
pr

-1
0

Ju
l-1

0
O

ct
-1

0
Ja

n-
11

A
pr

-1
1

Ju
l-1

1
O

ct
-1

1
Ja

n-
12

A
pr

-1
2

Ju
l-1

2
O

ct
-1

2
Ja

n-
13

A
pr

-1
3

Ju
l-1

3
O

ct
-1

3
Ja

n-
14

A
pr

-1
4

Ju
l-1

4
O

ct
-1

4
Ja

n-
15

A
pr

-1
5

Ju
l-1

5
O

ct
-1

5
Ja

n-
16

-20

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

Cardboard £'s per tonne

Cardboard £'s per tonne 2008 - 2016

P
age 38



$ax43bxzx.docx Page 33 of 52 Last updated 25 November 2016

A
pr

-0
8

Ju
l-0

8
O

ct
-0

8
Ja

n-
09

A
pr

-0
9

Ju
l-0

9
O

ct
-0

9
Ja

n-
10

A
pr

-1
0

Ju
l-1

0
O

ct
-1

0
Ja

n-
11

A
pr

-1
1

Ju
l-1

1
O

ct
-1

1
Ja

n-
12

A
pr

-1
2

Ju
l-1

2
O

ct
-1

2
Ja

n-
13

A
pr

-1
3

Ju
l-1

3
O

ct
-1

3
Ja

n-
14

A
pr

-1
4

Ju
l-1

4
O

ct
-1

4
Ja

n-
15

A
pr

-1
5

Ju
l-1

5
O

ct
-1

5
Ja

n-
16

0

50

100

150

200

250

Steel Cans/Tins £'s per tonne

Steel Cans £'s per tonne 2008 - 2016

P
age 39



$ax43bxzx.docx Page 34 of 52 Last updated 25 November 2016

A
pr

-0
8

Ju
l-0

8
O

ct
-0

8
Ja

n-
09

A
pr

-0
9

Ju
l-0

9
O

ct
-0

9
Ja

n-
10

A
pr

-1
0

Ju
l-1

0
O

ct
-1

0
Ja

n-
11

A
pr

-1
1

Ju
l-1

1
O

ct
-1

1
Ja

n-
12

A
pr

-1
2

Ju
l-1

2
O

ct
-1

2
Ja

n-
13

A
pr

-1
3

Ju
l-1

3
O

ct
-1

3
Ja

n-
14

A
pr

-1
4

Ju
l-1

4
O

ct
-1

4
Ja

n-
15

A
pr

-1
5

Ju
l-1

5
O

ct
-1

5
Ja

n-
16

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

900

1000

1100

Aluminium Cans £'s per tonne

Aluminium Cans £'s per tonne 2008 - 2016

P
age 40



$ax43bxzx.docx Page 35 of 52 Last updated 25 November 2016

A
pr

-0
8

Ju
l-0

8
O

ct
-0

8
Ja

n-
09

A
pr

-0
9

Ju
l-0

9
O

ct
-0

9
Ja

n-
10

A
pr

-1
0

Ju
l-1

0
O

ct
-1

0
Ja

n-
11

A
pr

-1
1

Ju
l-1

1
O

ct
-1

1
Ja

n-
12

A
pr

-1
2

Ju
l-1

2
O

ct
-1

2
Ja

n-
13

A
pr

-1
3

Ju
l-1

3
O

ct
-1

3
Ja

n-
14

A
pr

-1
4

Ju
l-1

4
O

ct
-1

4
Ja

n-
15

A
pr

-1
5

Ju
l-1

5
O

ct
-1

5
Ja

n-
16

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

Mixed Plastic Bottles £'s per tonne

Mixed Plastic Bottles £'s per tonne 2008 - 2016

P
age 41



$ax43bxzx.docx Page 36 of 52 Last updated 25 November 2016

Appendix 1 – Published Commodity Prices 2008/9 to 2015/16 (source = letsrecycle.com)
Lets Recycle Commodity Prices

2008/09 Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar
News and Pams £'s per tonne 65 - 70 67 - 72 70 - 72 75 - 80 80 - 85 85 - 100 85 - 98 80 - 95 60 - 70 45 - 50 45 - 50 47 - 52
Mixed Glass £'s per tonne 15 - 20 15 - 20 14 - 19 14 - 18 13 - 21 13 - 20 13 - 19 13 - 19 13 - 19 13 - 18 13 - 16 13 - 17
Cardboard £'s per tonne 48 - 55 50 - 55 48 - 50 48 - 50 48 - 50 48 - 50 40 - 45 0 - 10 5 - 8 10 - 15 20 - 25 15 - 25
Steel Cans/Tins £'s per tonne 185 235 235 235 145 95 95 - 110 0 0 0 10 25 - 45
Aluminium Cans £'s per tonne 800 850 850 850 850 750 750 500 400 400 400 350
Mixed Plastic Bottles £'s per tonne 100 - 155 130 - 200 140 - 230 180 - 230 180 - 230 180 - 230 150 - 180 40 - 90 40 40 - 100 60 - 120 70 - 120

2009/10 Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar
News and Pams £'s per tonne 55 - 60 60 - 65 65 - 70 70 - 75 70 - 80 75 - 80 75 - 80 72 - 80 75 - 80 80 - 85 85 - 87 103 - 110
Mixed Glass £'s per tonne 13 - 17 13 - 17 13 - 17 13 - 17 13 - 18 13 - 18 13 - 18 13 - 18 13 - 18 13 - 18 13 - 18 13 - 18
Cardboard £'s per tonne 22 - 27 22 - 27 23 - 38 25 - 30 27 - 32 29 - 34 30 - 36 37 - 42 38 - 43 40 - 50 42 - 55 60 - 70
Steel Cans/Tins £'s per tonne 25 - 45 30 - 50 20 - 40 20 - 40 10 - 30 10 - 30 40 - 70 45 - 75 70 - 80 100 - 130 100 - 130 100 - 130
Aluminium Cans £'s per tonne 350 450 550 550 550 475 475 475 550 550 800 800
Mixed Plastic Bottles £'s per tonne 90 - 150 110 - 160 130 - 160 100 - 150 100 - 150 70 - 130 80 - 140 60 - 140 80 - 140 100 - 150 120 - 160 120 - 160

2010/11 Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar
News and Pams £'s per tonne 98 - 105 98 - 106 105 - 110 107 - 112 112 - 115 115 - 120 115 - 120 115 - 120 115 - 120 116 - 122 119 - 125 125 - 130
Mixed Glass £'s per tonne 13 - 18 13 - 18 13 - 18 13 - 18 13 - 18 13 - 16 13 - 16 0 - 5 0 - 5 0 - 5 0 - 10 0 - 7
Cardboard £'s per tonne 65 - 75 65 - 75 55 - 65 55 - 65 60 - 67 65 - 73 67 - 75 70 - 80 70 - 80 75 - 87 80 - 90 85 - 95
Steel Cans/Tins £'s per tonne 110 - 140 120 - 150 110 - 140 110 - 130 110 - 130 110 - 140 130 - 150 130 - 150 150 - 165 150 - 175 130 - 155 125 - 150
Aluminium Cans £'s per tonne 800 800 800 720 600 600 750 800 800 800 800 870
Mixed Plastic Bottles £'s per tonne 110 - 160 130 - 180 130 - 170 130 - 170 140 - 180 160 - 190 150 - 180 160 - 190 160 - 210 160 - 210 180 - 230 190 - 240

2011/12 Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar
News and Pams £'s per tonne 125 - 130 120 - 130 120 - 130 125 - 135 130 - 140 129 - 139 123 - 135 100 - 105 95 - 100 105 - 110 105 - 115 105 - 115
Mixed Glass £'s per tonne 0 - 10 0 - 10 -5 -5 -6 -6 -6 -5 -6 0 0 0
Cardboard £'s per tonne 88 - 100 88 - 100 90 - 100 90 - 101 95 - 105 95 - 105 88 - 95 65 - 75 67 - 75 70 - 75 80 - 85 80 - 85
Steel Cans/Tins £'s per tonne 125 - 150 120 - 155 130 - 165 135 - 165 135 - 175 130 - 170 135 - 165 120 - 155 130 - 160 145 - 175 150 - 180 165
Aluminium Cans £'s per tonne 920 950 990 950 900 890 890 890 870 890 885 825
Mixed Plastic Bottles £'s per tonne 210 - 270 200 - 270 180 - 270 210 - 270 200 - 270 180 - 270 160 - 240 120 - 210 120 - 210 110 - 200 110 - 200 110 - 190

2012/13 Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar
News and Pams £'s per tonne 110 - 115 100 - 110 100 - 110 90 - 100 86 - 96 85 - 95 87 - 95 85 - 90 85 - 90 82 - 90 80 - 85 85 - 90
Mixed Glass £'s per tonne 0 0 0 0 0 0 5 - 10 10 - 35 5 - 35 20 - 35 15 - 28 12 - 25
Cardboard £'s per tonne 75 - 80 58 - 65 53 - 60 50 - 55 35 - 48 30 - 43 35 - 45 45 - 60 45 - 55 48 - 58 38 - 60 48 - 62
Steel Cans/Tins £'s per tonne 165 150 - 175 110 - 140 100 - 125 105 - 125 105 - 125 105 - 120 110 - 120 110 - 125 125 - 135 145 - 155 150 - 160
Aluminium Cans £'s per tonne 825 710 700 700 700 680 670 650 630 630 710 710
Mixed Plastic Bottles £'s per tonne 110 - 190 80 - 170 50 - 140 30 - 120 30 - 130 30 - 130 25 - 125 25 - 125 25 - 125 15 - 115 20 - 120 20 - 100

2013/14 Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar
News and Pams £'s per tonne 90 - 95 85 - 90 90 - 95 95 - 100 98 - 103 100 - 105 95 - 100 95 - 100 90 - 95 90 - 93 88 - 93 83 - 88
Mixed Glass £'s per tonne 12 - 27 9 - 30 5 - 25 5 - 26 5 - 25 5 - 25 5 - 25 5 - 25 8 - 27 5 - 25 4 - 23 2 -24
Cardboard £'s per tonne 45 - 65 47 - 60 45 - 60 47 - 60 50 - 60 45 - 62 45 - 68 43 - 70 40 - 65 45 - 65 45 - 61 45 - 57
Steel Cans/Tins £'s per tonne 140 - 155 135 - 145 125 - 135 130 - 140 135 - 145 140 - 150 135 - 145 140 - 150 130 - 145 135 - 150 130 - 140 125 - 135
Aluminium Cans £'s per tonne 715 710 720 720 730 750 740 730 725 640 610 600
Mixed Plastic Bottles £'s per tonne 20 - 90 30 - 90 30 - 100 30 - 100 40 - 110 30 - 100 30 - 95 40 - 100 40 - 100 40 - 100 40 - 100 40 - 100

2014/15 Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar
News and Pams £'s per tonne 83 - 90 83 - 90 85 - 90 80 - 90 82 - 90 82 - 90 80 - 90 75 - 85 69 - 80 69 - 79 69 - 77 45 - 50
Mixed Glass £'s per tonne 2 - 28 8 - 28 5 - 25 5 - 25 5 - 22 5 - 20 5 - 18 5 - 15 -10 - 10 0 -15 - 10 -30 - 10
Cardboard £'s per tonne 38 - 57 43 - 56 42 - 53 35 - 52 34 - 52 35 - 55 33 - 55 36 - 53 33 - 53 35 - 50 32 - 47 25 - 45
Steel Cans/Tins £'s per tonne 125 - 137 125 - 139 125 - 135 115 - 125 120 - 130 120 - 130 105 - 120 100 - 110 100 - 110 100 - 110 75 - 85 68 - 78
Aluminium Cans £'s per tonne 600 610 610 610 615 630 630 625 630 690 670 690
Mixed Plastic Bottles £'s per tonne 50 - 110 50 - 115 50 - 120 55 - 125 60 - 125 65 - 125 70 - 135 70 - 135 65 - 130 65 - 105 70 - 110 70 - 110

2015/16 Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar
News and Pams £'s per tonne 45 - 50 50 - 55 70 - 75 65 - 75 68 - 79 68 - 79 64 - 74 64 - 72 65 - 72 65 - 70 65 - 70 68 - 73
Mixed Glass £'s per tonne -30 - 10 -30 - 10 -25 - 10 -30 - 15 -33 - 15 -33 - 15 -35 - 11 -31 - 9 -30 - 10 -30 - -10 -31 - -10 -31 - -10
Cardboard £'s per tonne 28 - 48 32 - 54 46 - 60 46 - 60 45 - 57 45 - 56 45 - 55 45 - 55 46 - 56 47 - 55 40 - 52 43 - 54
Steel Cans/Tins £'s per tonne 73 - 83 78 - 90 70 - 82 52 - 65 35 - 50 20 - 35 20 - 30 30 - 35 15 - 30 15 - 30 15 - 27 15 - 27
Aluminium Cans £'s per tonne 690 705 650 590 575 530 540 560 570 570 625 650
Mixed Plastic Bottles £'s per tonne 70 - 110 80 - 120 80 - 120 80 - 120 50 - 90 35 - 75 35 - 75 35 - 75 35 - 75 30 - 75 30 - 75 35 - 80

P
age 42



$ax43bxzx.docx Page 37 of 52 Last updated 25 November 2016

1st Consultation Exercise Appendix 7

Don’t have time to sort 
materials.
No room to store box.
Not collected frequently 
enough.
Use the local recycling bank 
sites/household recycling 
centre.
Don’t believe that items are 
recycled.

P
age 43



$ax43bxzx.docx Page 38 of 52 Last updated 25 November 2016

Easier to put in my wheeled bin.
Don’t have a box.
Find it difficult to take my box 
to the kerbside.
Don’t know when my 
collections are due.

P
age 44



$ax43bxzx.docx Page 39 of 52 Last updated 25 November 2016

Increasing the frequency of the 
recycling service.
Extending the range of 
materials collected at the 
kerbside.
Making recycling at home 
easier to do.
Reduce the need to separate 
recyclables.
Don’t know.

P
age 45



$ax43bxzx.docx Page 40 of 52 Last updated 25 November 2016

P
age 46



$ax43bxzx.docx Page 41 of 52 Last updated 25 November 2016

P
age 47



$ax43bxzx.docx Page 42 of 52 Last updated 25 November 2016

P
age 48



$ax43bxzx.docx Page 43 of 52 Last updated 25 November 2016

P
age 49



$ax43bxzx.docx Page 44 of 52 Last updated 25 November 2016

P
age 50



$ax43bxzx.docx Page 45 of 52 Last updated 25 November 2016

2nd Consultation Exercise Appendix 8

Waste and recycling service options survey – final summary of results

P
age 51



$ax43bxzx.docx Page 46 of 52 Last updated 25 November 2016

 Swindon 

Road closure

Recycling bank 

closures

Garden waste 

price increase

Increase in 

other fees and 

charges

P
age 52



$ax43bxzx.docx Page 47 of 52 Last updated 25 November 2016

P
age 53



$ax43bxzx.docx Page 48 of 52 Last updated 25 November 2016

Community Impact Assessment Appendix 9

Community impact assessments – for services, policies and projects

What is a community impact assessment?
A community impact assessment is an important part of our commitment to delivering better services for our communities. The form will help us find out what 
impact or consequences our functions, policies, procedures and projects have on our communities, as well as employees and potential employees. 

By undertaking an impact assessment, we are able to:
 Take into account the needs, experiences and circumstances of those groups of people who use (or don’t / can’t use) our services.
 Identify any inequalities people may experience.
 Think about the other ways in which we can deliver our services which will not lead to inequalities.
 Develop better policy-making, procedures and services.

Background
Name of service / policy / project 
and date

Waste & Recycling and Route Optimisation

Lead officer Martin Stacy

Other people involved in 
completing this form

Sanjay Mistry
Scott Williams
Karen Watson

P
age 54



$ax43bxzx.docx Page 49 of 52 Last updated 25 November 2016

Step 1 - About the service / policy / project

What is the aim of the service / 
policy / project and what outcomes 
is it contributing to

The project has the following  priority action:
ENV 2 - We will deliver CBC’s commitments contained within the Joint Waste Committee plan

The objectives of the Project are to:
 Identify and evaluate options for future kerbside waste and recycling collection service
 Delivery of a Member/Public consultation on the shortlisted options
 Provide a recommendation as to a preferred delivery model
 Implementation of the preferred delivery model
 Ensure that the change process is managed effectively
 Delivery of an effective communication strategy to support the change process
 Alleviate current and future pressures on vehicle replacement
 Delivery of optimised route redesign and implementation

The project contributes to the Councils ‘Cheltenham’s environmental quality and heritage is protected, maintained 
and enhanced’ outcome.

Who are the primary customers of 
the service / policy / project and 
how do they / will they benefit

The primary customers of the Waste and Recycling service are the residents residing in the borough of 
Cheltenham.

There are also businesses which operate in the borough that utilise the waste collection service, but this activity is 
outside the scope of this project.

If the recommendations of the project are accepted and implemented they should see improved recycling 
opportunities and an increase in performance for the authority.

How and where is the service / 
policy / project implemented

The projects objectives will be delivered to residents within the borough of Cheltenham, by a project team 
consisting of CBC, UBICO and JWC officers.

What potential barriers might 
already exist to achieving these 
outcomes

Residents not taking advantage of the improved recycling services and thereby not contributed to any 
improvement in performance.

Step 2 – What do you know already about your existing / potential customers
What existing information and data 
do you have about your existing / 
potential customers e.g. Statistics, 
customer feedback, performance 

The project has undertaken two stakeholder consultation exercises.

The objective of the first exercise was to ascertain views of the current service and identify opportunities for 
improvement.

P
age 55



$ax43bxzx.docx Page 50 of 52 Last updated 25 November 2016

information
The second exercise essentially provided participants with an option to select from three different services that 
had been shortlisted. Each option was presented with its advantages and disadvantages as well as their financial 
implications.

What does it tell you about who 
uses your service / policy and 
those that don’t?

The first consultation exercise evidenced that there is a split between those residents who are keen recyclers, 
those who participate infrequently and those that don’t recycle at all. The exercise highlighted the issues 
contributing to the varying levels of recycling habits, showing in particular an appetite for recycling more if more 
recyclable material was collected from the kerbside.

The geographical spread of the second consultation responses had evidenced that the exercise was 
representative of the entire borough.

What have you learnt about real 
barriers to your service from any 
consultation with customers and 
any stakeholder groups?

There is an overwhelming lack of support for moving to a three weekly refuse collection change.

Participants were also very against the closure of the Swindon Road HRC.

There wasn’t overwhelming support to move to a co-mingled recycling service.
If not, who do you have plans to 
consult with about the service / 
policy / project?

N/A

P
age 56



$ax43bxzx.docx Page 51 of 52 Last updated 25 November 2016

Step 3 - Assessing community impact
How does your service / policy / project impact on different groups in the community? 

Group What are you already 
doing to benefit this 
group

What are you doing that 
might disadvantage this 
group

What could you do 
differently to benefit this 
group

No impact on this 
group

People from black and minority 
ethnic groups 
Gender 
Gender Reassignment 
Older people / children and young 
people

Assisted collection 
service.

People with disabilities and mental 
health challenges

Assisted collection 
service.

Religion or belief 
Lesbian, Gay and Bi-sexual people 
Marriage and Civil Partnership 
Pregnancy & Maternity 
Other groups or communities 

P
age 57



$ax43bxzx.docx Page 52 of 52 Last updated 25 November 2016

Step 4 - what are the differences
Are any groups affected in different 
ways to others as a result of the 
service / policy / project?

The improved service will be available to all residents.

Does your service / policy / project 
either directly or indirectly 
discriminate?

No

If yes, what can be done to improve 
this?

N/A

Are there any other ways in which 
the service / project can help 
support priority communities in 
Cheltenham?

The Councils waste policy provides assistance to those who are in need of additional support to manage their 
waste and recycling.

Step 5 – taking things forward
What are the key actions to be 
carried out and how will they be 
resourced and monitored?

The primary key action is to implement the improved waste and recycling service.

The implementation will be resourced with officer from CBC, JWT and UBICO. CBC will be responsible for the 
financial resourcing.

Who will play a role in the decision-
making process?

Cllr Chris Coleman and the Cabinet Member Working Group.
CBC

What are your / the project’s 
learning and development needs?

How to exploit different mediums to maximise the effectiveness of any consultation exercise.

How will you capture these actions 
in your service / project planning?

A dedicated project manager will utilise PRINCE2 based methodology to capture and manage project actions and 
overall time and budget management.

P
age 58



Gloucestershire Joint Waste Committee Business Plan
Covering the Period 2017-20

Committee Gloucestershire Joint Waste Committee 

Committee Date 6th December 2016

Significant 
Decision

Yes

Responsible 
Officers

Steve Read, Head of Service, Gloucestershire Joint Waste Team 
(01823 625707; steve.read@gloucestershire.gov.uk); 

Main Consultees Members of the Joint Waste Committee, other District partners, 
Strategic Management Group and the Joint Waste Team.

Purpose of Report The purpose of this report is to seek feedback on the draft report ready 
for final adoption in February 2017.

Recommendations It is recommended that the Committee:
a) Provide feedback on the Draft Business Plan
b) Support the Accord set out in section 1.4 of the Draft Plan with a 

view to formal adoption in February 2017 
c) Invite Gloucester and Stroud Councils to also adopt the Accord.
d) Members seek confirmation from their Council that it formally 

supports the Accord, and
e) Members report back in February 2017 when the Final Business 

Plan is approved.

Resource 
Implications The cost of the service will remain within the existing budget.

1. Background

1.1. The production of the Business Plan for the Joint Waste Committee is an 
annual process. 

 
1.2. The plan covers the period April 2017 to March 2020 with a particular focus on 

the period April 2016 – March 2017

Page 59

Agenda Item 8

tel:01823
mailto:steve.read@gloucestershire.gov.uk


2. Recommendations

2.1. The Joint Waste Committee is asked to feedback on the draft plan so that any 
changes can be made prior to final adoption in February 2016.

2.2. Arising from discussion at an informal workshop on 24th November 2016, the 
Draft Plan contains an Accord which seeks to obtain commitment from all 
partners to align and integrate waste and recycling services across the whole 
county, incrementally as fast as possible, reaching the goal before the end of 
2024.

2.3. It is recommended that the Committee members support and promote the 
Accord, seeking confirmation of support from their Council

2.4. Gloucester and Stroud Councils are similarly invited to support the Accord.

3. Key Projects in the period 

3.1. Key projects are set out in the Draft Action Plan (Appendix 1).  Upon Approval 
the actions will be presented in a more detailed (SMART) format in the 
Approved Plan due to be signed off by the Committee in February. 

4. Background Papers

4.1. Gloucestershire Joint Municipal Waste Management Strategy. 

Page 60



1 

Draft Business Plan  
(Draft for approval by Joint Waste Committee 6th December 2016) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Gloucestershire Joint Waste Committee 
 

Business Plan 
Covering the period 

2017-20 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 61



2 

 

1. Overview of the Joint Waste Committee  
 
1.1. Introduction 

 
This is the fifth business plan of the Gloucestershire Joint Waste Committee (GJWC) 
constituted between; Cheltenham Borough Council, Cotswold District Council, Forest of 
Dean District Council, Gloucestershire County Council and Tewkesbury Borough 
Council.  
 
This business plan is a requirement under the Inter Authority Agreement and it outlines 
the key priorities and actions for the next three years and a new major goal to reach 
service integration by the end of 2024.  (see 1.4 below) 
 
The purpose of this plan is to:  
  

 state this intent, and  

 set out key projects and programmes for the period  

 provide a mandate for the GJWC to consider and make decisions, according to 
set governance and budgetary principles, without constant reference back to the 
partner authorities. 

 
1.2. Rationale for Joint Working 

 
The roles of waste collection authorities (district councils) have become more complex 
and interdependent on the roles of county councils as waste disposal authority and 
vice-versa. There has also been growing interest in sharing services across district 
boundaries to benefit from economies of scale. 

The GJWC is a body with delegated powers to oversee and make decisions 
concerning the recycling, waste collection and street cleansing services for four 
district and borough councils and to deliver waste treatment and disposal for the 
County. 

 
1.3. Aims: What does success look like? 

 
The partnership is successful when:-  
 

 Across the partnership we constantly divert a greater proportion of household 
waste away from the disposal route through waste avoidance and reduction, 
reuse, recycling, composting and anaerobic digestion.   

 We increase the range of materials that residents can easily recycle. 

 A very high proportion of people have a positive view of recycling and the 
services provided. 

 The unit costs of providing the service to each household is value for money and 
are further reduced where the opportunity arises.  

 The recycled material we gather is of high quality and meets the specification of 
end users.   

 Costs and savings through joint working are fairly distributed between partners 
and their council tax payers; 

 We take the opportunities for efficiencies in the way staff, assets and other 
resources are shared between partners, especially at times of change.  

Page 62



3 

 We are vigilant about future drivers for change, trends, risks and opportunities 
and we make plans accordingly.  

 
1.4. Long Term Goal 

 
Joint working has resulted in “quick wins” for the partners but more importantly perhaps 
provides a platform for future savings by understanding the key critical points for 
efficiencies in the future and planning accordingly.  
 
In approving this plan, the partners are in one accord that the Committee’s principal 
goal is to align and integrate waste and recycling services across the whole county, 
incrementally as fast as possible, reaching the goal before the end of 2024. 
 
In determining the integrated methodology, the driving principles will be:  

 Minimising the amount of waste for disposal through avoidance,  reduction,  

reuse, recycling, digestion and composting 

 Optimising the whole cost of services to residents 

 Apportionment of service costs and incentives in a fair and equitable manner. 

In pursuit of this goal, the partners commit to:  

 approaching service design with an open mind, 

 contributing constructively to the debate,  

 striving to reach consensus in the interest of the driving principles 

 fairly sharing the reasonable costs of the journey 

 

1.5. Relationship with the Joint Municipal Waste Management Strategy 
(JMWMS) and other Collection Authorities. 
 

The formation of the GJWC is in line with the JMWMS (albeit that Gloucester City 
Council and Stroud District Council have not yet resolved to join the GJWC). This 
business plan will, however, contribute to the delivery of JMWMS objectives by the five 
GJWC authorities.  Under the JMWMS, each Gloucestershire local authority produces 
an annual action plan that sets out the key waste management actions the authority will 
undertake to implement this strategy.   
 
The action plan included within this business plan at Appendix 1 replaces the individual 
action plans for the GJWC Partner Authorities and sits under the JMWMS alongside the 
action plans for Gloucester City Council and Stroud District Council. 
 
1.6. Joint Waste Team 
 
The GJWC is served by a Joint Waste Team (JWT) whose principal role is to specify, 
plan, procure (where authorised by the GJWC and budget holding authority(s), monitor, 
co-ordinate and improve the delivery of services to householders, delivered by a 
number of service providers and in-house teams. 
 
The shared officer team provides more resilience as resources can be directed to 
projects or problems which have most impact on one partner at any given time. This 
then moves on to benefit others in the round. Since the formation of the partnership to 
date the equivalent of 3 posts from 13 (excluded head of service) have been saved, 
cover was provided from within the team to TBC during a prolonged period of reduced 
staffing.  The Head of Service remains a part time (0.4FTE) seconded post.  

Page 63



4 

 
 
1.7. Budget Principles 
 
The GWJC Constitution requires that any matter that has an impact on any partner’s 
financial standing or service provision may only proceed with the express agreement of 
the partner(s) concerned. 
 
Initially the contractual element of budgets (which is the large majority) will continue to 
be held by individual partners but managed by the JWT. 
 
1.8. Actions 
 
A Draft Action plan is included at Appendix 1.  
 
Some initiatives affect just a single partner but many involve either more than one or all 
the partners. This is indicative of the cultural shift towards closer joined up thinking and 
delivery since the formation of the JWC. 
 

2. Background  
 
2.1. Formation of the Gloucestershire Joint Waste Committee (GJWC) 

 
GJWC has been formed under Section 101 of the Local Government Act 1972 to 
oversee recycling, waste collection and street cleansing services for four district and 
borough councils and to deliver waste treatment and disposal for the County. 
 
The partnership comprises the following authorities: 
 
Cheltenham Borough Council (CBC); 

Cotswold District Council (CDC); 

Forest of Dean District Council (FoDDC);  

Gloucestershire County Council (GCC); 

Tewkesbury Borough Council (TBC); 

 
The agreed framework for the GJWC is an Inter Authority Agreement (IAA) signed in 
December 2014 whereby the five authorities named above have delegated their powers 
in relation to the delivery of waste collection and disposal and street cleansing services 
to the GJWC. The IAA contains a Constitution that specifies how the partnership is 
governed. 
 
The GJWC comprises of two Members from each authority on a ‘one Member, one 
vote’ basis. The GJWC meets formally in public session on a quarterly basis with 
informal meetings, workshops and visits taking place as required between formal 
meetings. Election of the Chairman and Vice Chairman will be held annually at an 
AGM.  
 
The GJWC directs a Joint Waste Team (JWT) led by a Head of Service who reports 
directly to the Joint Waste Committee and has, in turn, functions and powers delegated 
to it by the GJWC. The Head of Service maintains close strategic and operational links 
with the Partner Authorities through a director-level Strategic Management Group 
(SMG). The GJWC is ‘hosted’ by Gloucestershire County Council acting as 

Page 64



5 

Administering Authority. The roles of the Administering Authority and SMG are set out 
in the IAA. 

 
2.2. Purpose of the GJWC 

 
The GJWC provides a shared decision making body to improve services and deliver 
savings.  
 
Facilitate whole system thinking to reinforce quality of decision making from customer, 
financial and resource efficiency points of view. 

 
2.3. Vision of the GJWC 

 
In June 2011 the emerging partners agreed a joint vision which aspired to the formation 
of a partnership. The aims then include;  
  

 Reducing landfill and encouraging high participation in waste avoidance, reuse, 
recycling and food waste collection schemes.  

 Engaging with local people to encourage participation in recycling, support 
economic wellbeing and use efficient, sustainable and affordable solutions at 
every stage of the process.  

 Encouragement and facilitation of innovation, joined up strategy, policy and 
operations across the county, continuing to encourage all Gloucestershire 
councils to join the partnership.  

 Developing a holistic approach to service review so that the financial proposition 
is the most sustainable for the local taxpayer.  

 Working together in partnership to deliver more efficient waste services 

 Considering potential for waste collection and disposal as a single system 
provided for the council tax payers of Gloucestershire 

 Governance by a Joint Waste Committee with delegated powers to act in the 
area of waste disposal and collection with representatives from each of the 
participating District and the County Councils  

 Formation of a Joint Waste Team responsible for; 
o Delivering on Business Plan actions and any further resolutions 
o Managing existing external waste contracts,  

 Having safeguards in place to ensure that the Districts and the County retain 
decision-making on significant budgetary and service change matters 

 Maintaining existing customer contact arrangements  

 Managing within a common strategy with the goal of achieving the most efficient 
waste service 

 Planning across district and borough boundaries, optimising depot and transfer 
stations infrastructure and the use and purchase of resources such as vehicles.  

 
2.4. Key Principles Regarding Financial Control and Service Provision  

 
The Constitution facilitates joint working while reserving that any matter that has an 
impact on any partner’s financial standing or service provision (for example: frequency 
of collections or Recycling Centre opening hours) may only proceed with the express 
agreement of the partner(s) concerned.  
 

 
 
 

Page 65



6 

2.5. Services Provided 
 

The Partner Authorities have delegated responsibility for the following service areas to 
the GJWC: 
 

 Household residual waste, dry recycling and organics collection; 

 Local Authority Collected Waste transfer, treatment and disposal; 

 Bring sites; 

 Household Recycling Centres (HRCs); 

 Bulky household waste collection; 

 Commercial waste collection (where offered);  

 Street cleansing;  

 Relevant PR, marketing and community engagement (including with schools). 

 Medical sharps and clinical waste collection and disposal; 
 
2.6   Achievements to Date 

 The contract for collection of waste and recyclables in the Forest of Dean was 
extended to 2024. From August 2016 a new extended service with weekly 
recycling has been in place. This included the addition of plastic bottles, 
cardboard, small WEEE and textiles from the kerbside.  This has boosted 
performance and achieved savings for FoDDC. The picture below shows the 
new style “Romaquip” Recycling Vehicle deployed in the Forest from Autumn 
2016.  

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 The HRC contract has been let to Ubico after a short review triggered by the late 
withdrawal of Kier from a contract extension.   
 

 Food waste collection volumes have been increased by 22% following the 
delivery of the Food Waste Initiative (see figure below)  

Page 66



7 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 The Joint Waste Team are now responsible for the marketing and sale of 
materials from Cheltenham, which has increased revenue per tonne of 
recyclables, and for 28 different material streams from the HRCs.  

 

 A service review was carried out for Tewkesbury Borough Council and new 
vehicles and MRF contract are in advanced stages of procurement. 

 

 A service review is in progress for Cheltenham Borough Council, which has 
taken into account views of residents gathered via a questionnaire.  
 

 Communications support and a waste reduction incentive have been provided 
for Stroud District Council to support their service change in 2016.   

 

 All partners were assessed and deemed to be compliant with the Waste 
(England and Wales) Regulations 2012. 

 

 Support was given to CDC in the acquisition of a new depot site in South Cerney 

 

 Support was provided to Gloucester City Council during the review of their 
recycling and refuse collection service. 

 
 

3.  The Operating Environment 
 

3.1. Background 
 

There are many things that have an impact on services that are not under the control of 
the GJWC, JWT or the partners.  Recycling and waste management is a statutory, 
demand-led service with a high proportion of fixed costs due to contractual and/or tax 
requirements. There is however some variability particularly around waste tonnages 
and the mix of materials recovered. These variable costs can be influenced by 
macroeconomic effects such as changes in the economy, government policy such as 

Page 67



8 

the landfill tax escalator and social behaviour such as the degree of participation in 
recycling schemes. 

 
There is always a degree of uncertainty about how such external factors will impact and 
interplay. We can however identify those issues that might have an impact on the 
business in the future.  The business environment in this period is expected to be 
characterised to a greater or lesser extent by the following:-  
 

 Political / economic uncertainty in the wake of EU Exit referendum  

 A national debate about the role of producers in taking responsibility for the 
recycling of packaging. 

 Ongoing challenges to public bodies to meet the budget deficit.  

 Changes to fuel prices. 

 Increased waste arisings linked to housing growth 

 Central government is unlikely to support further step change initiatives, such as 
introducing “pay to throw” models, or reduced frequency collections. 

 Despite austerity there continues to be clear public expectation of continuing 
high quality household waste services.   
 

3.2. External Drivers 
 

The regulatory environment is not expected to change significantly over the period.  
There is now considerable uncertainty about how the “Circular Economy” proposals for 
revisions to the EU waste Framework Directive will apply to the UK both in terms of the 
final detail of the ambitious recycling targets and the extent to which the UK will adopt / 
be affected them.   
 
The Industry body, the Environmental Services Association (ESA) has ramped up 
pressure for a national debate on the role of producers of goods in covering costs of 
recycling. The circular economy proposals call for producers to cover the “entire” costs. 
If this was taken up in the UK it would take some pressure off local authorities.      
 
Defra’s main interest, aside from improving the England recycling rate, continues to be 
promoting consistency in household collection, with WRAP publishing a paper in 
September 2016. The Committee received a briefing on this at the October 2016 
meeting.   
 
The financial pressure on partner councils remains a major constraint. The Joint Waste 
Team will continue to seek opportunities to reduce costs through service integration 
and where possible through renegotiation of existing contracts and obtaining best value 
for materials. With systems in place, minimising the amount sent for disposal continues 
to have a positive benefit for all partners. 
 
The demand from the public for a wider range of materials to be recycled will continue 
and opportunities will be sought to improve this as part of the review and redesign of 
services and vehicles. 

 
3.3. Challenges 
 
The continuing growth in waste volumes with increases seen over the last 4 years 
against an historic tendency to decline year on year is a concern to the Committee.  
 
The Committee aspire to continue to improve and maintain the recycling rates. The 
Gloucestershire Recycling Rate in the period is on course in the 2016/17 financial year 

Page 68



9 

to break the 50% barrier for the first time (up from 47% in 2015/16). This is mainly as 
result of service changes being implemented in the second half of 2016.  In contrast the 
44.3% overall recycling rate for England declined by 0.7% in the 12 months to June 
2015 compared to the same period up to June 2014.   
 
The partner authorities continue to be subject to cumulative year on year financial 
pressures, including loss of income from the sale of recyclate.. Recycling material 
values over the late summer have picked up slightly but are still lower than they have 
been historically.   

 
3.4. Aspirations 

 
It has been helpful to the Joint Waste Team to consider its main priorities as: 
 

 Broadening the partnership (encouraging Gloucester City & Stroud to join) 

 Diversion – minimising the amount sent for disposal through waste avoidance, 
reduction or material recovery (reuse, recycling, composting, AD, etc) 

 Optimisation - the priority of making systems as efficient as possible regardless of 
whether they apply to multiple or single partners. Optimisation covers, among 
other things, operations, finance and governance.   

 Integration – seeking ways to join up and harmonise services  
 

3.5.    Key Projects 

 A summary of projects and other work streams identified is attached as an 
appendix to the plan. 

 As indicated at 1.4 above the partners have signaled clear intent to align and 
integrate waste and recycling services across the whole county, incrementally as 
fast as possible, reaching the goal before the end of 2024. This will require an 
appraisal of options and a detailed action plan.  

 Building on the continuing success and effectiveness of the Food Waste Initiative 
in terms of continuing diversion of food waste, JWT will continue to conceive and 
deliver campaigns and “nudge” opportunities to improve waste avoidance, 
reduction and recycling.  

 There are a cluster of projects involving review and re-specification of collection 
contracts with, in some cases, associated capital procurement of vehicles. 
Partners have already derived value from the joint approach within the single 
client team.  

 A number of these projects have now passed through the post implementation 
snagging phase (FoDDC Collections, HRCs). Others will be implemented in 2017 
(CBC Collection service, TBC MRF and vehicle procurement) and mobilisation of 
the UBB Javelin Park (construction is underway and commissioning spring 2019).    

 There are a number of projects which the JWT will work with contractors to reduce 
costs through optimise existing services. This includes round reviews, 
improvement to customer services sitting alongside other joint projects. 

 The review of future transfer arrangements for residual and garden waste has 
begun and will continue during next year. 

Page 69



10 

 The procurement of a replacement contract for the composting of garden waste 
will also begin. 

4. Performance and  Targets  
 
Historically, with recent exception of the Food Waste Initiative, the biggest step-
changes in recycling performance have come at times of major service change. Small 
scale initiatives do however continue to have value in reinforcing and maintaining 
behaviour. 

For the first time in Q1 and Q2 2016/17, tonnages to recycling, reuse, composting and 
digestion exceeded tonnages to disposal. The gap is expected to grow further in 
2017/18 due to the full year effects of implemented service changes in Forest of Dean 
and Stroud and service changes in Cheltenham expected in the autumn of 2017.   
 

 
 
Pending review during 2017/18 as part of the development of a new routemap, the key 
targets for the partnership are:-  
 

 Reducing residual waste to <228kg/person at the earliest possible date prior to 
2020, at a countywide level.  

 60% recycling target for 2020 at a countywide level. 

5. The Budgetary Framework  
 

5.1. The Budgetary Framework is set out within the IAA, specifically Schedules 4 and 5.  
The main principles are as follows: 
 

 The Constitution requires that any matter that has an impact on any partner’s 
financial standing or service provision may only proceed with the express 
agreement of the partner(s) concerned (as stated at 2.3 above). 

 The partnership has accumulated funding remaining to cover Head of Service 
and support costs. The reserve was envisaged to be sufficient to last for the first 
three years. The reserve is only sufficient to cover the period up to the end 
March 2018.  

Page 70



11 

 The salary, expenses and local service and supply costs of transferred 
employees are covered by the transferring authority who reimburse the 
Administering Authority accordingly. 

 Contract payments and other ongoing liabilities in connection with the service 
are made by the contract holding authority upon instruction of the JWT. 

 Income received by the partner authorities for garden waste etc. will be retained 
by each local authority to offset contractual costs.  
 

5.2. The table below shows the draft 2017/18 Revenue Budget summary for the whole 
partnership. These are indicative figures only.  The partners are currently in the 
process of setting budgets and the figures are expected to change as the budget 
setting progresses, subject to member approval. 
 

 
Total 

Budget Area Budget £’000 

    

Joint Waste Management Unit   

  Gross Expenditure 296 

  Income -256 

  Net Expenditure 40 

Joint Improvement Board   

  Gross Expenditure 0 

  Income -40 

  Net Expenditure -40 

TOTAL - GJWP 0 

    

Waste Disposal   

Royalty Payments -622 

WCA Landfill and Composting 16,576 

Household Recycling Centres   

  Gross Expenditure 4,939 

  Income -240 

  Net Expenditure 4,699 

Trade Waste -4 

Recycling Credits 3,832 

Tipping Away 56 

Closed Landfill Sites 34 

WCA Fridges and TVs 75 

Management Costs   

  Gross Expenditure 2 

  Income -8 

  Net Expenditure -6 

Waste Projects 50 

Marketing Promotions - Waste 50 

TOTAL - WASTE DISPOSAL 24,740 

    

Waste Collection   

Household Waste 5,053 

Bulky Household Waste   

  Gross Expenditure 70 

Page 71



12 

  Income -121 

  Net Expenditure -51 

Food/Organic Waste   

  Gross Expenditure 433 

  Income 0 

  Net Expenditure 433 

Green Waste   

  Gross Expenditure 2,687 

  Income -2,395 

  Net Expenditure 292 

Recycling Centres   

  Gross Expenditure 726 

  Income -181 

  Net Expenditure 545 

Bring Sites   

  Gross Expenditure 277 

  Income -74 

  Net Expenditure 203 

Recycling Collection Schemes   

  Gross Expenditure 5,665 

  Income -2,726 

  Net Expenditure 2,939 

Bulking of Recyclables   

  Gross Expenditure 221 

  Income -590 

  Net Expenditure -369 

Trade Waste   

  Gross Expenditure 888 

  Income -934 

  Net Expenditure -46 

Recycling Schemes Marketing 104 

TOTAL - WASTE COLLECTION 9,103 

    

Street Cleaning 2,970 

 
  

Central Costs   

Central Support Costs 1,773 

JWT Staffing Costs 600 

Depreciation 533 

TOTAL - CENTRAL COSTS 2,906 

    

TOTAL NET EXPENDITURE 39,719 

Page 72



13 

6. Risk Register 
 

The risk register is included at Appendices 2A and 2B. 

 

7. List of Appendices 
 

Appendix 1 – Action Plan 
Appendix 2A – Risk Register 
Appendix 2B – Risk Register Matrix 
Appendix 3 – Joint Waste Committee Summary of Forecast Income and Expenditure 
2015/16 
Appendix 4 – 2017/18 Waste Marketing and Behaviour Change Programme  
 
 
 
 

Page 73



14 

 
Appendix 1 - Action Plan  

 

    
  Project Affecting   Objective and /or Outcomes 

        

  Strategic Direction 

1 Service Integration Routemap All 
To  develop options and pathway to Service Integration in 
accordance with the Partner's declared intent 

2 Continue to encourage GCC and SDC to join JWC All 
To develop an overall strategy and optimised delivery 
framework for an efficient, effective and inclusive resource 
management in Gloucestershire   

        

  Infrastructure 

3 Waste Transfer Options  
All JWC 
partners 

To consider the options for the transfer of waste after August 
2018  

4 FODDC Depot project FODDC 
To ensure that Depot/ Bulking Facility is in place in readiness 
for 2024 

        

  Procurement  

5 
Work with Ubico to develop a Procurement Strategy 
for vehicles and other capital items  

All 
To be used for projects from April 2016, e.g. TBC , CBC and 
other partners as required. 

6 
Planning for mobilisation of FoDDC street cleaning 
contract in 2018 

FoDDC new contract mobilisation 

7 
Procurement of a replacement composting contract 
for garden waste collected in Gloucestershire. 

All New contract to compost garden waste from August 2018 

8 
Assist CBC in arranging new contracts for recycling 
materials from October 2017 when current 
contracts expire 

CBC New contracts for recycling materials 

P
age 74



15 

 

  Project Affecting   Objective and /or Outcomes 

        

  Service Development, Efficiency and Improvement 

9 
To review and establish how new developments 
that cross boundaries will be serviced 

TBC/CBC/GC To establish if one service fits all is achievable 

10 
Support CDC in appraising the options available for 
recycling service improvement in 2019 when the 
current vehicles reach their end of life 

CDC 
To improve the services offered to residents and increase the 
amount of waste diverted from landfill into recycling streams. 

11 
Explore new recycling opportunities at HRCs 
including Swindon Road 

GCC & CBC 
Given the wider infrastructure project and consideration by 
CBC over the usage of the Swindon Road Depot, this action 
has been suspended.  

12 Monitor recycling banks usage in FoDDC FoDDC 
To assess if recycling banks can be removed in July 2018 to 
reduce costs, due to the expansion of the kerbside collection 
which were implemented in 2017.  

13 
Working with Ubico, implement preferred option for 
recycling service redesign in Cheltenham including 
round optimisation.  

CBC 
Having identified the preferred option (expected Autumn 2016), 
to plan and implement new service within time and financial 
parameters during Autumn 2017 

14 Procurement round 2 on HRC materials GCC Ensure best value for HRC materials costs and income. 

15 Residual waste composition analysis GCC Commence planning for this to be delivered during 2018. 

16 
To work with Ubico to  undertake a review of the 
discretionary trade waste service to ensure it is 
operating on a viable commercial level 

TBC To establish if cross council service is viable 

17 
Review of Garden Waste Charging Process and 
system to consider annual renewal and licence/tag 
system  

TBC To improve the service and renewal process 

18 Bulky waste collection service review TBC 
To consider service options with the aim of improving service 
levels and reducing waste to landfill 

P
age 75



16 

 

  Project Affecting   Objective and /or Outcomes 

        

  Organisational / Systems 

19 
Recruitment of a new Head of Service  
Complete Phase 2 of JWC Restructuring  

JWT To be completed by June 2017 

20 Javelin Park project handover GCC 
To implement plan to transfer responsibility for the contract to 
the JWT.  

21 
Support 2020 project changes - e.g. changes to 
CRM systems that impact on service delivery 

2020 
partners 

To ensure continuity of service, and quality of service delivery 
and customer satisfaction  

22       

  Communications and Behavioural Change 

23 
Increasing recycling participation by engagement 
e.g. the Helping People to Recycle More project 

All JWC 
partners 

To minimise waste to disposal on an average per household 
basis. 

24 SDC service change follow-up work GCC / SDC 
Communications support to maintain participation rates after 
initial surge has settled down (potential to include bin 
stickering) 

25 Javelin Park Communications GCC 
JWT to work with GCC Residual Project officers and UBB to 
ensure consistency in the delivery of comms key messages. 

26 
Support CBC in enforcing no-side waste and closed 
bin lid policy 

CBC 
Once necessary enforcement support has been secured, to 
control levels of residual waste being presented - in support of 
Helping People to Recycle More project. 

27 
Promote garden waste collection schemes in all 
districts 

Districts To promote and sustain uptake in garden waste services 

28 
To explore options for developing a more 
integrated, efficient and effective countywide 
approach to flytipping enforcement  

All To improve the natural environment and reduce costs 

P
age 76



17 

 

 Project Affecting   Objective and /or Outcomes 

    

  Safety, Health and Environmental impact of operations 

29 
Monitor Health and Safety and Support the Health 
& Safety Executive's anticipated intervention 
programme. 

Districts 
To ensure safe working practices are in place and risks are 
eliminated or mitigated  

30 
Review of monitoring health and safety of Ubico 
contracts  

ALL 
To establish common processes and ensure safety working 
practices are in place and risks are eliminated or mitigated 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 77



18 

Appendix 2A – Risk 
Register

Gloucestershire Joint Waste Committee Impact (threats) Impact (opportunities)

Strategic Risk Register (JWC Version 08/02/16) v.Lo = Negligible Negligible v.Lo = 

Last Reviewed 08/02/16 Lo = Minor Minor benefit Lo =

Med = Moderate Moderate benefit Med =

Read with Risk Appetite Matrix (see Appendix 2B) Hi = Major Major benefit Hi =

v.Hi = Catastrophic Groundbreaking benefit v.Hi =

Raw Score Mitigated Score Target Score
Impact prob. score Impact Prob. score Impact Prob. Aim

R1

Pressure to reduce budgets places existing 

services under financial pressure. The 

affordability of existing services becomes 

more questionable.

Services may have to change or service 

providers have to save money by 

adjusting the service offered.

Med Hi 

Work with service suppliers to either 

reduce price or change service offer to be 

more affordable.

Lo Hi Lo Hi

R2
Improvements to services are harder to make 

in a climate of financial hardship.

Service providers can only offer service 

improvements by being more efficient or 

by making savings elsewhere.

Med Hi 

Work with service suppliers to discuss 

changes to bring forward efficiencies 

which can be re-invested. Evaluate future 

service options 

Lo Hi Lo Hi

R3

Waste growth per household leads to 

increased volumes of waste requiring 

collection and/or treatment/disposal.

Budget pressure created by increasing 

waste volumes.
Med Hi 

Continued public engagement and 

interventions to encourage diversion 
Lo Hi

Under guidance from JWC consider 

future service options that will 

discourage waste growth and 

encourage avoidance and diversion

Lo Hi

R4 Income from sales of recyclate  (Risk)

Material values have dropped in the last 

12 months and show no early signs of 

recovery.

Med Hi

This is due to market forces but 

maintaining high quality of materials will 

help cushion the impact

Lo Hi

Ensure that the best deals are made 

with processors and other 

opportunities to market materials are 

taken in due course .

Lo Hi

O1 Income from sales of recyclate (Opportunity) 

Sell materials directly, eliminates third 

party margins and therefore maximises 

income

Med Hi
CBC have agreed that JWC will takeover 

marketing of materials from October 2015
Lo Hi

Ensure that the best deals are made 

with processors and other 

opportunities to market materials are 

taken in due course .

Lo Hi

O2 Innovation and integration

Authorities have the opportunity to look 

for novel service delivery models which 

offer greater efficiencies

Hi Hi

Under guidance form the JWC, wWork with 

Contractors / Ubico Board to deliver 

service changes and associated savings, 

consider developments to existing service 

models.

Hi Hi

Seek economies of scale through 

service alignment and optimisation as 

far as possible on a countywide basis 

Hi Hi

R5
DCLG remain critical of local authorities who 

do not provide refuse services weekly 

Addional cost to County as whole likely 

to exceed £3-4m pa and recyling rate 

will drop.

v.Hi Lo
Continue to base policy on evidence of 

performance and popularity 
Hi Lo

Keep members informed especially 

following changes to administration or 

portfolio holders.

Hi Lo

R6
Political priorities can and will change over 

time.

Waste becomes an issue which 

members feel has been dealt with and 

so the focus is on other priorities.

Med Med

Ensure members are aware of the nature 

of the services and how they impact on all 

taxpayers.  Keep up to date with the latest 

thinking to ensure opportunities to innovate 

are not missed.

Med Med

Keep members informed especially 

following changes to administration or 

portfolio holders.

Med Med

R7
JWT Management Structure is not fit for 

purpose

The unit is not structured or led in a way 

that to provides balance in terms of 

value for money and demands

Med Med

Ensure workload is planned to deliver the 

highest priorities and staff are empowered 

to work effectively and efficiently.

Med Med

Structure Review will consider various 

options including there is an 

opportunity to employ a full time Head 

of Service and other mitigating 

options.

Med Med

R8 Balance of resources between partners

Partners expect the JWT to deliver 

everything they want without committing 

the resources required for delivery.

Hi Hi

Use the business planing process to 

understand and resolve how the JWT 

resources are to be utilised across 

partners.  Some members may need to 

commit more resources.

Med Hi

SMG and partner authorities commit 

to resolve resource disparity, JWT will 

seek ways to allow this without  

adding overall cost

Med Hi

Under guidance from the JWC, meet 

with suppliers to discuss how to 

deliver savings.

Likely

Almost certain

Ref Mitigation planned Future ActionsEffect

Probability

Not foreseeable

Unlikely

Possible 

Political

Financial

RiskArea

Organisational

 

P
age 78



19 

 
 

Gloucestershire Joint Waste Committee Impact (threats) Impact (opportunities)

Strategic Risk Register (JWC Version 08/02/16) v.Lo = Negligible Negligible v.Lo = 

Last Reviewed 08/02/16 Lo = Minor Minor benefit Lo =

Med = Moderate Moderate benefit Med =

Read with Risk Appetite Matrix (see Appendix 2B) Hi = Major Major benefit Hi =

v.Hi = Catastrophic Groundbreaking benefit v.Hi =

Raw Score Mitigated Score Target Score
Impact prob. score Impact Prob. score Impact Prob. Aim

R9 Ability of contractors to deliver 

Service delivery is the key to providing 

good customer services. As pressure is 

placed on contractors to deliver more 

with less service delivery may suffer. 

Med Hi

Ensure that the JWT carries out sufficient 

monitoring to keep the contractor focused 

on meeting contractual standards.

Med Med
Regular meetings with contractors to 

keep service levels under review.
Med Med

R10 IT systems – obsolescence and compatibility
Inefficiencies due to incompatible or 

obsolete  IT systems
Lo Med

work with ICT units to improve compatibility 

and functionality
Lo Med

Keep systems and replacments under 

review and flag budgetary 

implications.

Lo Med

R11  Driver shortages

Impact on service delivery if not all 

rounds can be deployed, particularly if 

over a sustained period. Wage pressure 

may also become a factor

Hi Med

Work with contractors to ensure they have 

policies in place for driver training and 

retention and drivers have met CTC 

requirements

Hi Med

Consider opportunities to make 

working conditions attractive to aid 

retention and loss to other HGV 

operators

Hi Med

R12 Weather related Service disruption caused by weather. Med Med
Follow procedures to esnure least 

disruption to services.
Med Med

Review and update procedures in 

light of experience.
Med Med

R13 Commercial
 Capacity of contractors to develop / improve 

services / make new proposals 

As service providers take on more work, 

resources can be stretched; 

performance & commitment to service 

development can suffer.

Med Med

Work with service suppliers to ensure  

changes are managed with appropriate 

resources and services are delivered to 

the expected level.

Med Lo

Ensure that expectations are made 

clear and embedded in all future 

commissioning / procurement 

processes 

Med Lo

Likely

Almost certain

Ref Mitigation planned Future ActionsEffect

Probability

Not foreseeable

Unlikely

Possible 

 Operational 

RiskArea

 
 
Appendix 2B – Risk Register Matrix 

V.Hi V.Hi

Hi Hi

Med Med

Lo Lo

V.Lo V.Lo

V.Lo Lo Med Hi V.Hi V.Hi Hi Med Lo V.Lo

(Threats) (Opportunities)

Acceptable risk level Limited Opportunity

Mitigation desirable Some scope for benefit

Mitigation essential Significant opportunity

P
ro

b
a

b
ili

ty

P
ro

b
a

b
ility

Positive ImpactNegative Impact

P
age 79



20 

Appendix 3 – Joint Waste Committee Summary of Forecast Income and Expenditure 2017/18 
 

Item 
Amount 

£'000 Explanation 

Opening Balance -81 Brought Forward 

      

Forecast Income -29 CBC contribution to staffing costs 

  -39 CDC contribution to staffing costs 

  -129 
FoDDC contribution to staffing 
costs 

  -49 TBC contribution to staffing costs 

  -260 GCC contribution to staffing costs 

Total Forecast Income -506   

Forecast Expenditure 45 HoS and PA support 

  29 CBC staff costs 

  29 CDC staff costs 

  129 FoDDC staff costs 

  49 TBC staff costs 

  260 GCC staff costs 

  3 Financial support 

  4 Democratic Services support 

Total Forecast Expenditure 548   

Net Forecast Expenditure 42   

      

Forecast Closing Balance -39   

Change in Balance Held -42   

 

P
age 80



Appendix 4 2017/18 Waste Marketing and Behaviour Change Programme

Jan Feb Mar Apr  May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

Projects and campaigns

Helping people to recycle more.

Removal of unauthorised 

excess residual waste 

capacity, commence in FoD 

and prepare for roll-out in 

other areas.

Andy Kim / Marsha Marsha FoD £2k Commence
Forest 

ongoing

Forest 

ongoing

Forest 

ongoing

Forest 

ongoing

Forest 

ongoing
Plan rollout Plan rollout

Commence 

rollout
rollout rollout rollout rollout rollout rollout

Support of Stroud service change continuing Real 

Nappy promotional activity for newborns in the 

district

Continue the 12 month 

giveaway of real nappies to 

newborns in the district.

Andy Kate n/a GCC £4k

Further promotions of Stroud new service as per 

'incentive agreement'.

Follow-up comms in order to 

maintain performance levels.
Andy SDC

SDC / Claire 

Marshall
GCC £25k

Love Your Clothes campaign

Following the Feb 2017 local 

campaign, we will continue to 

promote the issue using the 

ongoing WRAP media 

output.

Kate Marsha
Marsha  /  

WRAP
GCC £4k

Local 

campaign

Promote 

national 

campaign

Hubbub - Forest of Dean litter reduction project.

Continuation of Hubbub 

project in 2016, extending 

coverage and potential 

impact.

Rachel Marsha Hubbub

Hubbub 

(external 

grant)

n/a Ongoing

Spring clean competition (Cotswolds) Competition funded by Ubico Bob JWT CDC CDC / Ubico £1k plan & design commence

Advice to residents moving house

Leaflet produced in 

conjunction with Ubico. 

Information to new residents 

regarding recycling and 

disposal of oversized 

packaging and other waste 

generated during a house 

move.

Kate Ubico GCC GCC £500 design print
commence 

distribution

Home Composting promotions

Ongoing through the year, 

but focus on Compost 

Awareness week. Maintain 

compost bin subsidy.

Kate
Master 

Composters
Marsha GCC £4k

Cheltenham Service Change Karen Watson Katie Sandey CBC CBC tba
Commence 

comms

Maintain support for Repair Café and other 'reuse' 

groups.

Ensure initiatives are widely 

promoted and assist in their 

delivery with third parties.

Kate - - GCC £2k

As per third 

party 

schedule

Build in 'what happens to your recycling' 

messages during appropriate comms 

opportunities.

Awareness raising in order to 

encourage more recycling.
Andy Kate Marsha All n/a

Across the 

year

CDC Depot development comms Bob McNally - - CBC tba
Commence 

comms

Recycle Week' promotions

Delivery of national campaign 

at a local level (theme not yet 

announced)

Kate Andy Marsha GCC £4k

Hempsted HRC temporary closure notifications
Closure for safety during site 

development works.
Andy Kate GCC GCC £1k deliver

Christmas Campaign WEEE and food waste? Kate Marsha Marsha GCC £4k

Garden Waste Promotion (FOD)
Direct mail; email reminder; 

bin hangers
Marsha - FoD FoD £10k plan mail out

Annual Waste Calendar (FOD) Direct mail Marsha - FoD FoD £10k plan mail out

Garden Waste Promotion (CDC) Adverts, posters, media PR Bob McNally - CDC CDC

Garden Waste Promotion (CBC) Posters, media PR Scott - CBC CBC

Q4Activity Notes

Regular Activities

Q4

2017/18

Lead

2016/17

Q1 Q2 Q3
Indicative 

Costs
Support Designer Funded by

P
age 81



Appendix 4 2017/18 Waste Marketing and Behaviour Change Programme

Jan Feb Mar Apr  May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

Q4Activity Notes Q4

2017/18

Lead

2016/17

Q1 Q2 Q3
Indicative 

Costs
Support Designer Funded by

Garden Waste Promotion (TBC)

direct mail - ongoing to 

customers to remind them of 

renewal date

TBC customer 

services team
- TBC TBC

Produce and distribute the annual waste 

collection calendar (TBC)
leaflet, letter, postage Julie

TBC comms 

team
TBC TBC

Your Guide Advert (All)
link to the key messages in 

each district
Andy Kate all GCC / all £4k plan design

finalise 

design
publish

Quarterly internal news bullitin

News and partnership 

information, aimed primarily 

at members and senior 

officers of all seven GWP 

authorities.

Kate Andy Kate GCC negligible

Bi-monthly comms planning meeting

with all district comms and 

media officers from all seven 

GWP authorities

Andy Kate n/a n/a n/a

County-wide Real Nappies Campaign Ongoing Kate - n/a GCC

break even 

with landfill 

savings

ongoing 

throughout 

year

RFG website maintenance Ongoing Marsha Kate n/a GCC negligible as necessary

Cotswold News articles Bob Kate n/a CDC n/a

Tewkesbury Borough News articles Lisa Davis Julie / Rachel n/a TBC n/a

Bad weather messages (FoD) Press releases and website Marsha - n/a n/a n/a as necessary

Bank holidays and bad weather messages (CDC) Press releases and website Bob McNally - n/a n/a n/a as necessary

Bank holidays and bad weather messages (CBC) Press releases and website Katie Sandey - n/a n/a n/a as necessary

Bank holidays and bad weather messages (TBC) Press releases and website Lisa Davis - n/a n/a n/a as necessary

P
age 82



Performance Report for 2016/17

Committee Gloucestershire Joint Waste Committee 

Committee Date 6th December 2016

Significant 
Decision No

Responsible 
Officers

Steve Read, Head of Service, Gloucestershire Joint Waste 
Team (01823 625707; steve.read@gloucestershire.gov.uk); 

Main Consultees None

Purpose of Report To update members on the performance indicators for the 
financial year 2016/17.

Recommendations It is recommended that the Committee notes the report

Resource 
Implications None

1. Background 

1.1 The JWT reports year to date performance for the Gloucestershire Councils on a 
regular basis. This report covers Q1 and Q2 in 2016/17, presented in the context of 
trends over the last 8 years.
 

2. Performance

2.1. The chart overleaf shows the total household waste arisings across the County by 
Waste type in kg per household from 2009 to 2017. Initially there was a reduction in 
total waste over the period which reflected the effects of the downturn in the economy 
and the success of service changes that took place across the County.  

2.2. The decline in waste arisings bottomed out in 2012/13 and tonnages rose for the two 
following years following similar trends elsewhere in England. JWT have forecast an 
increase in tonnage in 2016/17. So far residual waste to HRCs has increased but this 
is more than offset by a decline in residual collected at kerbside. It is too soon to see 
any waste reduction effects of the recently introduced recycling service changes in 
Forest and Stroud, although it is hoped this will be evident in Q3 and Q4.

2.3. However for the first time in Gloucestershire, as seen in Figure 2 below, in Q1 and 
Q2 the tonnage of material recycled, composted or digested exceed the amount sent 
for disposal. This is partly due to improved food waste capture following the initiative 
in 2015 and changes to garden waste collection in Stroud whereby the material is 
composted and not landfilled.

Page 83

Agenda Item 9

tel:01823
mailto:steve.read@gloucestershire.gov.uk


2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17
0

200

400

600

800

1000

1200

Landfilled

Food

Recycling

Reuse

Garden

Total Household Waste Arisings across the County by Waste Type - kg per 
household per Year

Data for 2016/17 is a forecast based on six  months data
For Cotswold the proportion of food waste has been estimated  

2.4. The total waste arisings across the County is forecast to increase by 10,371 tonnes 
over the whole period (2009 to 2017), whilst during the same period the number of 
households across the County has increased by 18,762.  During this time the amount 
of residual waste sent to landfill is also forecast to reduce by 20,226 tonnes.   

100,000

110,000

120,000

130,000

140,000

150,000

160,000

170,000

2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17
Landfill 161,072 145,911 138,152 135,631 139,238 146,335 146,158 140,846
Recycli
ng 115,744 125,262 123,871 125,992 127,712 130,071 132,161 146,341

Landfill

Recycling

Recycling and Landfill Tonnage 2009/10 to 2016/17

To
nn

es

2.5. Residual waste was decreasing between 2009 and 2013 but then showed an upturn 
from 2013 to 2015 however due to service changes planned this year residual waste 
is set to decrease this year.

Data for 2016/17 is a forecast based on six  months data
For Cotswold the proportion of food waste has been estimated  

Page 84



2.6. The table below shows the performance of each District on a per household basis.

0

200

400

600

800

1000

Cheltenham 
BC

Cotswold 
DC

Forest of 
Dean DC

Gloucester 
City

Stroud DC
Tewkesbury 

BC

Land
filled

467 375 417 489 429 405

Recy
cling

685 599 599 628 646 627

Reus
e

695 602 606 636 654 632

Food 752 659 681 693 683 706

Gard
en

891 966 873 799 741 866

Landfilled Recycling Reuse

Food Garden

2016/17 Total Household Waste Arisings by Waste Type - Kg per household per 
year

2.7. From this data it is evident that; 

2.7.1. Cotswold collects the largest amount of food and garden waste.  This is perhaps 
not surprising as the frequency of garden waste collection is weekly in the 
Cotswold because food waste is collected mixed in with the garden waste. 

2.7.2. Tewkesbury, Stroud and Cotswold have the highest dry recycling collection 
figures. Dry recycling in Cheltenham is boosted by the operation of Swindon Rd 
which contributes a significant proportion of the kg/hh, e.g. 33% by weight in the 
first quarter.  

2.7.3. Landfill is highest in Gloucester and Stroud and lowest in Cotswold.  It is clear 
from past data that following a service change residual waste has then started to 
grow again.

2.8. The recent food waste campaign and proposed interventions projects are aimed at 
reversing the trend of increasing residual waste

2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17
Forecast

Cheltenham BC -1% -5% -24% 3% 1% 3% 0% -1%
Cotswold DC 1% -2% 2% 0% 5% 3% -1% -2%
Forest of Dean DC -3% -1% -1% -25% 0% 4% -1% -2%
Gloucester City -5% -25% 2% 3% 3% 5% -4% -6%
Stroud DC 0% 1% -3% -6% -1% 5% -2% -13%
Tewkesbury BC 0% -36% 0% 1% 5% 7% -3% -8%

Data for 2016/17 is a forecast based on six  months data
For Cotswold the proportion of food waste has been estimated  

Page 85



2.9. The chart below shows the former national key performance indicators at County and 
District level projected to the end of the 2016/17 based on six months actual data and 
six months forecast data.  Cheltenham, Forest of Dean and Stroud are expected to 
meet their targets.

 

45
%

58
%

48
%

37
%

30
%

51
% 62

%

47
%

48
%

60
%

52
%

39
% 42
% 53

% 63
%

51
%

46
%

61
%

49
%

50
%

40
%

54
%

70
%

53
%

Cheltenham 
BC

Cotswold DC Forest of 
Dean DC

Gloucester 
City

Stroud DC Tewkesbury 
BC

HRCs County
20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

2015/16

2016/17
Forecast

2016/17 
Target

Reuse, Recycling and Composting 

2.10. The County overall is forecast to reach 51% and this is the first time ever that 
Gloucestershire is expected to exceed 50% recycling.   Following recent service 
changes in Stroud and Forest of Dean it is anticipated that the County is likely to 
exceed 53% recycling in 2017/18.  However there will still be real challenges ahead 
in meeting the 60% target by 2020.

2.11. No authorities are forecast to meet their residual target for 2016/17.  However all 
areas are forecast to have a decrease in residual household waste compared to 
2015/16. 

47
4

38
6 43

2 50
3

49
9

42
7

65

52
5

46
7

37
5 41

7 48
9

42
9

40
5

66

50
3

46
4

35
4 41

0

39
3

42
2

38
1

50

45
7

Cheltenham 
BC

Cotswold DC Forest of 
Dean DC

Gloucester 
City

Stroud DC Tewkesbury 
BC

HRCs County
0

100

200

300

400

500

600

2015/16 
Actual

2016/17 
Forecast

2016/17 
Target

Landfilled waste - Kg Per Household 

2.12. Overall the County is forecast to have a decrease in residual waste this year 
compared to last year.  The residual h/hold waste forecast is 503 kg/ per household 
this year compared to 525 kg per household in 2015/16.

Page 86



Management Accounts Monitoring Report 2016/17

Committee Gloucestershire Joint Waste Committee 

Committee Date 6 December 2016

Significant 
Decision

No

Responsible 
Officers

Steve Read, Head of Service, Gloucestershire Joint Waste Team 
(01823 625707); steve.read@gloucestershire.gov.uk); 

Main Consultees None

Purpose of Report The purpose of this report is to set out the financial performance of 
the individual authorities within the JWC against their approved 
annual budget for the first seven months of the current financial 
year.  
It also shows the combined position across authorities.

Recommendations It is recommended that the Committee:
a) Notes the summary financial performance as contained in 

this report.

Resource 
Implications

None
 

1) Background 
a) When the Joint Waste Committee was formed it was agreed that budget setting and service 

charges are retained decisions for the individual authorities within the partnership.  
b) As such the operational budgets for waste disposal, waste collection and street cleaning 

have remained with their respective authority but are managed by officers within the Joint 
Waste Team.  

c) The majority of the operational budget consists of payments to contractors: Gloucestershire 
County Council contracts include Cory for waste disposal and since August Ubico for 
Household Recycling Centres; Forest of Dean District Council contracts include Biffa for 
waste collection and street cleaning and Cheltenham, Cotswold and Tewkesbury delivery 
provider for waste collection and street cleaning is the local authority company Ubico.

d) As Gloucestershire County Council (GCC) is the Administering Authority for the Joint Waste 
Committee, budgets associated with running the Joint Waste Committee are reported within 
their figures.   Staffing costs for the Joint Waste Team are the largest element of this 
budget. These are transferred from each partner organisation’s budget to the Administering 
Authority on a quarterly basis. 

Page 87

Agenda Item 10

tel:01823
mailto:steve.read@gloucestershire.gov.uk


2) Current Financial Position
a) Appendix 1 is the combined revenue budgets for GCC, CBC, CDC, FODDC and TBC and 

shows the current forecast year end revenue position is an overspend of £361,000  (0.92% 
of the net budget). This is based on monitoring forecasts made in November 2016 and 
actual financial transactions to the end of October 2016.

3) Waste Disposal Costs 

a) Appendix 2 shows the Gloucestershire County Council revenue budget.  
b) The net forecast budget position for waste disposal is £100,000 underspend.  New 

contractual arrangements regarding recyclate income from waste collected at Household 
Recycling Centres accounts for an additional £130,000 of income.  There is an overspend 
on waste contracts, mainly due to additional tonnage accepted at the Household Recycling 
Centres, offset by less residual waste than forecast being delivered by the waste collection 
authorities.  Waste projects are underspent due to a delay in implementation.

4) Waste Collection Costs

a) Appendix 3 shows Cheltenham Borough Council revenue budget.  The forecast outturn is 
an overspend of £235,000 against the current budget.  This overspend is due to recycling 
collection schemes where an additional vehicle is currently being employed as a result of a 
growth in property numbers and inefficient rounds; food waste is also being collected 
separately. There is also an income shortfall showing across the range of services due to 
lower than budget commodity prices.  As outlined elsewhere on this agenda, a service 
redesign planned for roll out in September 2017 will include optimisation of rounds and 
provide for increased property numbers for the next 3 to 5 years.

b) Appendix 4 shows Cotswold District Council revenue budget.  The forecast outturn is an 
overspend of £155,000.  The majority of this is due to the cost of an additional recycling 
collection vehicle being used until round re-zoning changes were introduced in September 
to manage greater demand. There was a slight drop in material income as a result of a fall 
in commodity prices however these have since risen again. The procurement of bins and 
caddies for household waste as a result of a large amount of property development, which 
was not included in the base budget, has contributed to the overspend. This is partly offset 
by additional income from the green waste collection scheme due to an increase in the 
number of subscribers. 

c) Appendix 5 shows the Forest of Dean District Council revenue budget.  A balanced budget 
is currently forecast. 

d) Appendix 6 shows Tewkesbury Borough Council revenue budget and the forecast outturn 
for the year is an overspend of £71,000. The Ubico contract is currently overspending at the 
end of Quarter 2 for waste and recycling collection due to growth in both areas; Ubico have 
reported they expect the situation to continue to year end.  The overspend on recycling 
collection scheme costs is partly offset by increased income from recycling credits.  Street 
cleaning is overspending due to Ubico using agency staff to meet demand.

Page 88



Appendix 1 – Total Revenue Budget Summary across all JWC partners

Head of Service: Steve Read Analysis of progress to: 31/10/2016

Budget Area Total Profiled Budget Actual Variance Forecast Forecast Year
Budget To Date To Date To Date Outturn End Variance
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Joint Waste Management Unit
  Gross Expenditure 291 190 182 -8 291 0
  Income -250 -125 -124 1 -250 0
  Net Expenditure 41 65 58 -7 41 0
Joint Improvement Board
  Gross Expenditure 0 0 0 0 0 0
  Income -41 0 -81 -81 -41 0
  Net Expenditure -41 0 -81 -81 -41 0
TOTAL - GJWP 0 65 -23 -88 0 0

Waste Disposal
Royalty Payments -628 -337 -356 -19 -665 -37
WCA Landfill and Composting 17,019 9,076 8,741 -335 16,560 -459
Household Recycling Centres
  Gross Expenditure 4,309 2,388 2,469 81 4,932 623
  Income 0 0 0 0 -130 -130
  Net Expenditure 4,309 2,388 2,469 81 4,802 493
Trade Waste -3 -2 0 2 -3 0
Recycling Credits 3,644 1,758 1,344 -414 3,768 124
Tipping Away 56 0 0 0 56 0
Closed Landfill Sites 32 16 39 23 33 1
WCA Fridges and TVs 76 39 36 -3 71 -5
Management Costs
  Gross Expenditure 2 0 2 2 2 0
  Income -8 0 0 0 -8 0
  Net Expenditure -6 0 2 2 -6 0
Waste Projects 100 44 30 -14 30 -70
Waste Education 20 30 0 -30 0 -20
Marketing Promotions - Waste 122 71 2 -69 56 -66
TOTAL - WASTE DISPOSAL 24,741 13,083 12,307 -776 24,702 -39

Waste Collection 0
Household Waste 4,918 2,928 2,878 -50 4,985 67
Bulky Household Waste
  Gross Expenditure 69 35 42 7 69 0
  Income -120 -71 -93 -22 -120 0
  Net Expenditure -51 -36 -51 -15 -51 0
Food/Organic Waste
  Gross Expenditure 105 102 100 -2 105 0
  Income 0 0 0 0 0 0
  Net Expenditure 105 102 100 -2 105 0
Green Waste
  Gross Expenditure 2,578 1,610 1,576 -34 2,586 8
  Income -2,317 -1,989 -2,027 -38 -2,381 -64
  Net Expenditure 261 -379 -451 -72 205 -56
Recycling Centres
  Gross Expenditure 819 452 365 -87 819 0
  Income -266 -155 -114 41 -266 0
  Net Expenditure 553 297 251 -46 553 0

Revenue Budget Summary - Gloucestershire Joint Waste Partnership 2016/17

Page 89



Budget Area Total Profiled Budget Actual Variance Forecast Forecast Year
Budget To Date To Date To Date Outturn End Variance
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Bring Sites
  Gross Expenditure 324 187 196 9 324 0
  Income -104 -61 -40 21 -104 0
  Net Expenditure 220 126 156 30 220 0
Recycling Collection Schemes
  Gross Expenditure 5,381 3,305 3,440 135 5,622 241
  Income -2,869 -1,569 -1,372 197 -2,879 -10
  Net Expenditure 2,512 1,736 2,068 332 2,743 231
Bulking of Recyclables
  Gross Expenditure 219 128 125 -3 219 0
  Income -434 -253 -132 121 -249 185
  Net Expenditure -215 -125 -7 118 -30 185
Trade Waste
  Gross Expenditure 875 515 518 3 883 8
  Income -934 -630 -571 59 -932 2
  Net Expenditure -59 -115 -53 62 -49 10
Recycling Schemes Marketing 119 55 30 -25 118 -1
TOTAL - WASTE COLLECTION 8,363 4,589 4,921 332 8,799 436

Street Cleaning 2,996 1,867 1,735 -132 3,015 19

Central Costs
Central Support Costs 1,786 320 320 0 1,786 0
JWT Staffing Costs 592 296 226 -70 537 -55
Depreciation 597 258 247 -11 597 0
TOTAL - CENTRAL COSTS 2,975 874 793 -81 2,920 -55

TOTAL NET EXPENDITURE 39,075 20,478 19,733 -745 39,436 361

Page 90



Appendix 2 – Gloucestershire County Council 

Head of Service: Steve Read Analysis of progress to: 31/10/2016
Partner: Gloucestershire County Council

Budget Area Total Profiled Budget Actual Variance Forecast Forecast Year
Budget To Date To Date To Date Outturn End Variance
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Joint Waste Management Unit
  Gross Expenditure 291 190 182 -8 291 0
  Income -250 -125 -124 1 -250 0
  Net Expenditure 41 65 58 -7 41 0
Joint Improvement Board
  Gross Expenditure 0 0 0 0 0 0
  Income -41 0 -81 -81 -41 0
  Net Expenditure -41 0 -81 -81 -41 0
TOTAL - GJWP 0 65 -23 -88 0 0

Waste Disposal
Royalty Payments -628 -337 -356 -19 -665 -37
WCA Landfill and Composting 17,019 9,076 8,741 -335 16,560 -459
Household Recycling Centres
  Gross Expenditure 4,309 2,388 2,469 81 4,932 623
  Income 0 0 0 0 -130 -130
  Net Expenditure 4,309 2,388 2,469 81 4,802 493
Trade Waste -3 -2 0 2 -3 0
Recycling Credits 3,644 1,758 1,344 -414 3,768 124
Tipping Away 56 0 0 0 56 0
Closed Landfill Sites 32 16 39 23 33 1
WCA Fridges and TVs 76 39 36 -3 71 -5
Management Costs
  Gross Expenditure 2 0 2 2 2 0
  Income -8 0 0 0 -8 0
  Net Expenditure -6 0 2 2 -6 0
Waste Projects 100 44 30 -14 30 -70
Waste Education 20 30 0 -30 0 -20
Marketing Promotions - Waste 122 71 2 -69 56 -66
TOTAL - WASTE DISPOSAL 24,741 13,083 12,307 -776 24,702 -39

Central Costs
Central Support Costs 912 0 0 0 912 0
JWT Staffing Costs 321 161 120 -41 260 -61
Depreciation 0 0 0 0
TOTAL - CENTRAL COSTS 1,233 161 120 -41 1,172 -61

TOTAL NET EXPENDITURE 25,974 13,309 12,404 -905 25,874 -100

Revenue Budget Summary - Gloucestershire Joint Waste Partnership 2016/17

Page 91



Appendix 3 – Cheltenham Borough Council Revenue Budget Summary

Head of Service: Steve Read Analysis of progress to: 31/10/2016
Partner: Cheltenham Borough Council

Budget Area Total Profiled Budget Actual Variance Forecast Forecast Year
Budget To Date To Date To Date Outturn End Variance
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Waste Collection
Household Waste 1,396 704 735 31 1,396 0
Bulky Household Waste
  Gross Expenditure 36 16 16 0 36 0
  Income -47 -28 -34 -6 -47 0
  Net Expenditure -11 -12 -18 -6 -11 0
Green Waste
  Gross Expenditure 389 187 186 -1 389 0
  Income -544 -317 -296 21 -544 0
  Net Expenditure -155 -130 -110 20 -155 0
Recycling Centres
  Gross Expenditure 819 452 365 -87 819 0
  Income -266 -155 -114 41 -266 0
  Net Expenditure 553 297 251 -46 553 0
Bring Sites
  Gross Expenditure 135 77 79 2 135 0
  Income -90 -53 -31 22 -90 0
  Net Expenditure 45 24 48 24 45 0
Recycling Collection Schemes
  Gross Expenditure 1,450 836 912 76 1,500 50
  Income -615 -358 -219 139 -615 0
  Net Expenditure 835 478 693 215 885 50
Bulking of Recyclables
  Gross Expenditure 219 128 125 -3 219 0
  Income -434 -253 -132 121 -249 185
  Net Expenditure -215 -125 -7 118 -30 185
Trade Waste
  Gross Expenditure 597 329 328 -1 597 0
  Income -637 -372 -315 57 -637 0
  Net Expenditure -40 -43 13 56 -40 0
Recycling Schemes Marketing 33 13 1 -12 33 0
TOTAL - WASTE COLLECTION 2,441 1,206 1,606 400 2,676 235

Street Cleaning 917 527 451 -76 917 0

Central Costs
Central Support Costs 342 200 200 0 342 0
JWT Staffing Costs 35 20 11 -9 35 0
Depreciation 45 26 15 -11 45 0
TOTAL - CENTRAL COSTS 422 246 226 -20 422 0

TOTAL NET EXPENDITURE 3,780 1,979 2,283 304 4,015 235

Revenue Budget Summary - Gloucestershire Joint Waste Partnership 2016/17

Page 92



Appendix 4 – Cotswold District Council Revenue Budget Summary

Head of Service: Steve Read Analysis of progress to: 31/10/2016
Partner: Cotswold District Council

Budget Area Total Profiled Budget Actual Variance Forecast Forecast Year
Budget To Date To Date To Date Outturn End Variance
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Waste Collection
Household Waste 1,156 761 787 26 1,196 40
Bulky Household Waste
  Gross Expenditure 0 0 0
  Income -36 -21 -29 -8 -36 0
  Net Expenditure -36 -21 -29 -8 -36 0
Green Waste
  Gross Expenditure 1,401 932 927 -5 1,401 0
  Income -627 -621 -678 -57 -687 -60
  Net Expenditure 774 311 249 -62 714 -60
Recycling Collection Schemes
  Gross Expenditure 1,626 1,054 1,175 121 1,776 150
  Income -1,035 -533 -519 14 -1,010 25
  Net Expenditure 591 521 656 135 766 175
Recycling Schemes Marketing 13 7 1 -6 13 0
TOTAL - WASTE COLLECTION 2,498 1,579 1,664 85 2,653 155

Street Cleaning 1,027 681 663 -18 1,027 0

Central Costs
Central Support Costs 135 0 0 0 135 0
JWT Staffing Costs 39 23 20 -3 39 0
Depreciation 91 0 0 0 91 0
TOTAL - CENTRAL COSTS 265 23 20 -3 265 0

TOTAL NET EXPENDITURE 3,790 2,283 2,347 64 3,945 155

Revenue Budget Summary - Gloucestershire Joint Waste Partnership 2016/17

 

Page 93



Appendix 5 – Forest of Dean District Council Revenue Budget Summary

Head of Service: Steve Read Analysis of progress to: 31/10/2016
Partner: Forest of Dean District Council

Budget Area Total Profiled Budget Actual Variance Forecast Forecast Year
Budget To Date To Date To Date Outturn End Variance
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Waste Collection
Household Waste 1,393 813 690 -123 1,393 0
Bulky Household Waste
  Gross Expenditure 33 19 26 7 33 0
  Income -28 -16 -24 -8 -28 0
  Net Expenditure 5 3 2 -1 5 0
Food/Organic Waste
  Gross Expenditure 105 102 100 -2 105 0
  Income 0 0 0 0 0 0
  Net Expenditure 105 102 100 -2 105 0
Green Waste
  Gross Expenditure 415 242 209 -33 415 0
  Income -516 -516 -516 0 -516 0
  Net Expenditure -101 -274 -307 -33 -101 0
Bring Sites
  Gross Expenditure 189 110 117 7 189 0
  Income -14 -8 -9 -1 -14 0
  Net Expenditure 175 102 108 6 175 0
Recycling Collection Schemes 0
  Gross Expenditure 1,183 690 605 -85 1,183 0
  Income -679 -396 -332 64 -679 0
  Net Expenditure 504 294 273 -21 504 0
Recycling Schemes Marketing 58 34 28 -6 58 0
TOTAL - WASTE COLLECTION 2,139 1,074 894 -180 2,139 0

Street Cleaning 522 305 256 -49 522 0

Central Costs
Central Support Costs 205 120 120 0 205 0
JWT Staffing Costs 136 79 58 -21 136 0
Depreciation 397 232 232 0 397 0
TOTAL - CENTRAL COSTS 738 431 410 -21 738 0

TOTAL NET EXPENDITURE 3,399 1,810 1,560 -250 3,399 0

Revenue Budget Summary - Gloucestershire Joint Waste Partnership 2016/17

Page 94



Appendix 6 – Tewkesbury Borough Council Revenue Budget Summary

Head of Service: Steve Read Analysis of progress to: 31/10/2016
Partner: Tewkesbury Borough Council

2 3 4 5 6
Budget Area Total Profiled Budget Actual Variance Forecast Forecast Year

Budget To Date To Date To Date Outturn End Variance
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Waste Collection
Household Waste 973 650 666 16 1,000 27
Bulky Household Waste
  Gross Expenditure 0 0
  Income -9 -6 -6 0 -9 0
  Net Expenditure -9 -6 -6 0 -9 0
Green Waste
  Gross Expenditure 373 249 254 5 381 8
  Income -630 -535 -537 -2 -634 -4
  Net Expenditure -257 -286 -283 3 -253 4
Recycling Collection Schemes 0
  Gross Expenditure 1,122 725 748 23 1,163 41
  Income -540 -282 -302 -20 -575 -35
  Net Expenditure 582 443 446 3 588 6
Trade Waste
  Gross Expenditure 278 186 190 4 286 8
  Income -297 -258 -256 2 -295 2
  Net Expenditure -19 -72 -66 6 -9 10
Recycling Schemes Marketing 15 1 0 -1 14 -1
TOTAL - WASTE COLLECTION 1,285 730 757 27 1,331 46

Street Cleaning 530 354 365 11 549 19

Central Costs
Central Support Costs 192 0 192 0
JWT Staffing Costs 61 13 17 4 67 6
Depreciation 64 0 64 0
TOTAL - CENTRAL COSTS 317 13 17 4 323 6

TOTAL NET EXPENDITURE 2,132 1,097 1,139 42 2,203 71

Revenue Budget Summary - Gloucestershire Joint Waste Partnership 2016/17

Page 95



This page is intentionally left blank



Joint Waste Committee 6th December 2016

Service Update – Gloucester City

The communication campaign regarding the new service started on 21st  November, with 
crews placing out bin hangers.  All residents be posted a new collection calendar and 
information about the new service which rolls out on 16th January 2017.  35% of households 
will have a change to their collection day.

The new service remains kerbside sort with Romaquip vehicles adding brown (corrugated) 
cardboard, mixed plastics and textiles in addition to what is already collected.  

Brown cardboard will be collected separately via a blue sack provided to residents.

Mixed papers will be collected in a green box and include news and pams, thin card and 
beverage cartons.  Plastics, aerosols, tins and cans will be mixed in the same compartment 
of the vehicle and a new sorting system at Eastern Avenue will separate the steel from the 
aluminium and the plastic bottles from the mixed plastic. The new system is designed to 
maximise revenue for products.

It is forecast that the new service will divert another 2000 tonnes per annum of material away 
from landfill, make savings circa £250,000 to the Council and move Gloucester City closer to 
a 50% recycling rate.  

The Council will continue to restrict the amount of domestic waste collected.

Page 97

Agenda Item 11



This page is intentionally left blank



Partners Project Lead Officer(s) When Expected Outcome Update for December JWC Meeting 

1.0

1.1 GCC Javelin Park Communications AP As required
Continue to make it very clear that the delivery of Javelin Park does not take the 

pressure off the need to minimise waste for disposal 

JWT will be represented at future Javelin Park communications meetings and will 

input to common comms messages.

1.2 Districts Promote garden waste collection schemes in all districts RC, SW Spring 2017 To promote and sustain uptake in garden waste services

For TBC this has been advertised in the Borough News and is always a 

homepage feature on the website. CBC & CDC promoted in the usual ways and 

have seen an increase in the numbers of subcribers. FoD currently preparing 

garden waste literature which will be mailed out to residents in February 2017.  

Work currently underway on new online payment system.      

1.3 SDC, FODDC Promote service design changes AP, RC 
Spring & 

Summer 2016
To reduce waste to landfill and increase participation in recycling services

Continuing to support SDC in the preparation for their service change. The new 

service is now underway and the bulk of the proactive comms has been 

completed. However, additional work in schools, roadshow support and the 

additional promotion of Real Nappies is ongoing.  FOD service change comms 

completed. 

1.4 FODDC
Work with environmental charity Hubbub on an Anti littering 

campaign
RC Summer 2016 To change behaviour and reduce littering across the district

Campaign in progress.  Measurement of success will take place October as will 

final debrief. A debrief took place 1 November regarding first phase of the 

campaign which has had a positive effect.  Hubbub has secured extra funding to 

further the campaign next year and will continue to work with FoD and other 

partners on this.

1.5 All To build on the Food Waste Initiative AP Autumn 2016
To make further inroads in the reduction of food waste to disposal including 

waste avoidance and separate collection 

Intention to promote the 'no food waste' campaign, one year on, later in the year 

prior to Christmas. This will form part of the main Christmas waste campaign.

1.6 All
Increasing recycling participation by engagement e.g. the 

Helping People to Recycle More project
AP Summer 2016 To minimise waste to disposal on an average per household basis.

Commencing excess capacity reduction in FoD in the autumn and winter.

1.7 All
Continue to explore opportunities for increased reuse and 

repair
AP, TC

Summer & 

Autumn 2016
To reduce waste to landfill and increase reuse driving waste up the hierarchy.

Support of repair café is ongoing, and additional promotion of Real Nappies is 

being undertaken during the Stroud service change. Preparation is now underway 

for the Love Your Clothes campaign to be undertaken in February 2017.

1.8 All

Continue to seek opportunities to engage with retailers and 

producers to reduce packaging, improve awareness of food 

waste and on-site recycling opportunities

AP, SR Summer 2016

JWC has been invited by WRAP to sign up to the Courtauld 2025  initiative (due 

to be launched in March 2016) which aims to provide  a national framework to 

collaborate to fulfil the vision of a world where food and drink are produced and 

consumed sustainably  

Monitoring Courtauld 2025 developments and remaining open to project 

opportunities that this may present.

1.9 All
Explore means of encouraging owners and users and of 

holiday-lets to participate in recycling
SW

Spring & 

Summer 2016
To reduce waste to landfill and increase participation in recycling services

Support given to Watermark Club and Coln Park developments in providing 

recycling information to owners and users of second home/holiday lets in the 

Cotswolds on those sites. Supported CBC in providing recycling information to 

landlords of student accomodation in St Pauls and other areas. Smaller/individual 

properties are always difficult to identify and we more often that not rely on them 

making contact.

2.0

2.1 TBC TBC MRF contract procurement BC RC Autumn 2016 New contract in place by April 17 
OJEU notice published, PQQ and ITT documents available. ITT deadline 30 

November

2.2 TBC TBC Vehicle procurement BC RC Autumn 2016 New vehicle fleet  in place by April 17

Tendering commenced using EPSO and Crown Commercial Service. Partnership 

working between JWT, TBC and Ubico. On schedule. 

2.3 CBC CBC Vehicle procurement SW Autumn 2016 Part fleet replacement in 2016 ahead of full service review (3.3 below) Linked to 3.3

2.4 GCC HRC Contract TC Summer 2016 Commission service provider for HRC operations from August 2016  Ubico Ltd took over site operations from August 2016.

3.0 Operational review

3.1
GCC, CBC, TBC, FoDDC, 

CDC
Waste Transfer Options TC/AP Autumn 2016 To consider the options for the transfer of waste after August 2018.

Initial meetings  with CBC, work underway to appraise the business case for 

using Swindon Road.  Project initiated to consider options for future transfer 

potential.

3.2 GCC, SDC Support for Stroud DC service change AP Autumn 2016
To assist Stroud as required in ensuring the service change happens smoothly 

diverting more waste away from landfill.

Continuing to support service change in relation to communications.

3.3 CBC
Review options for recycling service redesign in Cheltenham 

including round optimisation across all services
SW Autumn 2016

To consider the service options available and assess the affordability of being 

able to implement mixed plastics and cardboard collections from the kerbside 

and to minimise additional costs as a result of property number increases

1st and 2nd phase consultations complete, report with recommended service 

option going to CBC cabinet and council in December.

3.4 CBC
Support CBC in enforcing no-side waste and closed bin lid 

policy
SW Summer 2016

To control levels of residual waste being presented - in support of Helping 

People to Recycle More project

Work underway with enforcement team to gear them up towards the roll out of 

the policy on a zero tolerance basis however, team is severly depleated and 

therefore rollout needs to be managed carefully.

3.5 CDC
Support Ubico in presenting options for and implementation 

of round re-routing in Cotswold
SW Summer 2016

To optimise collection resources available as household numbers increases in 

some areas and rounds become unbalanced  

Project successfully completed with minimal issues.

Appendix 1 - Action Plan (Business Plan 2016-19)

Engagement with customers

Procurement

P
age 99



3.6 GCC & CBC
Explore new recycling opportunities at HRCs including 

Swindon Road
SW, TC

Spring & 

Summer 2016
To divert waste away from landfill.

This action will be progressed after Ubico has had the chance to assess the 

synergies and identify improvements following its taking on the County HRC 

contract. However as a result of Action 3.1, any further work has been 

suspended.

3.7 FoDDC
Implement service design change and route optimisation by 1 

August 2016
RC Spring 2016

To implement improved recycling collections from the kerbside and reduce 

waste to landfill

Service change implemented 1 August.  A few teething problems with the 

collection of small electrical items due to the volume presented for collection.  

There has been a high demand for additional recycling containers which suggests 

that new participants to kerbside recycling.

3.8 FoDDC Monitor recycling banks usage in FoDDC RC by Aptil 2017 To assess if recycling banks can be removed by 2018 to reduce costs Will be undertaken once new service has embedded in. 

3.9 FoDDC
Planning for mobilisation of FoDDC street cleaning contract in 

2018
RC by Aptil 2017 New contract mobilisaton

Contract due to start August 2018 so project will be set up in August 2017. 

3.10 FoDDC
Work with Environmental Protection and Street Warden 

teams to prevent flytipping and increase enforcement action 
RC Summer 2016 To improve the natural environment and reduce costs

This project is on hold until the new Environment and Regulatory Service cross 

authority team is fully functional. 

3.11 TBC
Implement option for TBC service design including round 

optimisation across all services
BC RC Spring 2016

Any changes would be implemented in line with vehicle fleet replacement due 

April 17.

Round optimisation planning taking place in partnership with Ubico. Likely to have 

results in the Autumn in preparation for and changes required from April 2017

3.12 CDC Implement actions from the Strategic Bring Bank review SW Spring 2016

Rationalise the network taking out banks for materials which are collected at 

kerbside and improving bank provision for materials that are not collected at 

kerbside. 

Parish Councils advised of the changes and work should be completed before 

Christmas.

4.0 Infrastructure 

4.1 All
Work with Ubico to develop a Procurement Strategy for 

vehicles and other capital items 
RC, SW, TC By April 2017

To be used for projects from April 2016, eg TBC , CBC and other partners as 

required.

4.2 FODDC, GCC FODDC Depot and Bulking facility project RC, TC By April 2017 To secure a depot in readiness for 2024
Initial meetings have been held with the parties involved and a contractor is to be 

appointed to progress the project.

5.0 Surveys/ Research 

5.1 All
Actively seek out and continue to draw on good practice and 

trial schemes promoted by WRAP and other LAs 
AP, RC, SW, TC As required

To report to the Committee on such ideas, with external speakers as 

appropriate

5.2 CDC
To undertake a small scale pilot to investigate the impact of 

bin size on residual waste generation.
AP, SW Autumn 2016

Identify a discrete area of CDC to issue smaller (eg 120/140L bins) as standard 

and monitor the impact on residual waste and recycling levels. 

Highfield Farm development identified in Tetbury which is currently being 

constructed and will provide a good area to conduct the pilot. SW working with 

Ubico to set the pilot up. The impact of residual waste container size reduction in 

Stroud is currently being monitored.

6.0
Contribution to 

Corporate Initiatives

6.1 Districts
Monitor Health and Safety and Support Health & safety 

Executive's anticipated intervention program
RC, SW

Spring & 

Summer 2016

To ensure safe working practices are in place and risks are eliminated or 

mitigated 

HSE intervention program looks as though it has relaxed on LA's but is instead 

focussing on SME type businesses. Continual monitoring of contracts is inbedded 

as one of the core functions of the JWT.

7.0 Strategic

7.1 All

To undertake a review of contract end dates and other key 

opportunities across the county for service review over the 

next 5- 10 years.  Linked to Actions 3.3 and 4.1 among 

others. 

SR Spring 2016
Identify opportunities for service alignment, improving performance and Joint 

procurement. 

7.2 GCC Javelin Park project handover SR As required To develop a plan to transfer responsibility for the contract to the JWT. 

7.3 CBC
Support Ubico in making preparations to implement chosen 

recycling service model in 2017
SW Summer 2016

To ensure that any new service is effectively introduced within time and 

financial parameters

Linked to 3.3

7.4 CDC
Support Ubico in transfering operations to permanent depot 

in Cotswold
SW Summer 2016 To reduce revenue cost to CDC

Packers Leaze site is currently in period of transition having works completed 

before Ubico move in, in December

7.5 FoDDC and CBC Maximise income for recycling RC, SW As required
To increase income to councils through promotion of quality and (CBC) effective 

marketing of materials  

CBC - ongoing as part of SW's core responsibilities.

7.6 2020 partners
Support 2020 project changes - e.g. changes to CRM 

systems that impact on service delivery
RC, SW As required

To ensure continuity of service, and quality of service delivery and customer 

satisfaction 

7.7
JWT

Continue to support Gloucester City (on a cost recovery 

basis)
SR, TC As required Move toward full membership of the JWC 

7.8 All
Review the means by which the JWT is led and managed at 

a senior level and the associated shared funding mechanism.
SMG Spring 2016 SMG make recommendations to the JWC

P
age 100


	Agenda
	5 Minutes of the previous meeting - 4 October 2016
	6 Cheltenham Borough Council Service Review - Preferred Option
	8 Draft Business Plan 2017-2020 and Draft Revenue Budget 2017-2018 Summary
	Draft Business Plan 2017-20  v161125
	Marketing & Behaviour Change Programme 2017-18   161125

	9 Performance Monitoring
	10 Management Accounts Monitoring Report
	11 Service/Action Plan Update
	JWC Action Plan 2016-17 - Update  161125


